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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
CHAIRMAN'S REPORT 2017

THE HON JILL HENNESSY,
MINISTER FOR HEALTH

Dear Minister,
I n accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994, I have pleasure in presenting my sixth Annual
Report as Chairman, on the operations of the Geelong Cemeteries Trust for the twelve month period from
1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017.
OBJECTIVES
The principal objectives of the Geelong Cemeteries Trust are, and continue to be, to:
•

Plan for and deliver, at reasonable cost, a high standard of ongoing service in the provision and
maintenance of burial, cremation and memorialisation facilities to the communities in which we
operate.

•

Consult with the community and the funeral industry in our regions to help improve the level of
service and facilities provided by the Trust.

•

Continue the program to develop and upgrade the facilities provided at the Trusts cemeteries,
crematorium and mausolea.

•

Manage the finances of the Trust in a prudent and responsible manner.

•

Train and encourage the Trusts staff to perform their duties in a caring, efficient and safe manner.

•

Operate as a good corporate member of the Geelong, Surf Coast, Queenscliff and Colac Otway
regional communities.

am pleased to report that, in the opinion of the Trust, these objectives were fully achieved during the
period of this report.
BURIALS, ENTOMBMENTS AND CREMATIONS
Over comparative periods, the number of cremations performed by the Trust had been increasing despite
the fall in 2016. The number of burials reduced in 2013 but has been steadily increasing since, although
has fallen for the current reporting period, while cremations significantly increased. The Trust has taken
on 5 new sites in recent years with 69 burials at those sites in 2016/17.
The total services provided by the Trust have increased, on average, by approximately 5.75% annually
over this period. Details of burials, entombments and cremations are outlined below:
12 months to 12 months to 12 months to 12 months to 12 months to
30 June 2017 30 June 2016 30 June 2015 30 June 2014 30 June 2013
Burials
Entombments
Cremations
TOTAL

917
2
1,509
2,428

970
4
1,352
2,326

915
6
1,417
2,338

762
4
1,293
2,059

739
3
1,231
1,973

As the Trust provides its services to a regional population of approximately 290,000 people, the regional
death rate in 2016/17 is slightly over eight deaths per thousand of population, with the cremation rate
i ncreasing to 62.1% (previously 58.1%) of funerals serviced by the Trust. The Trust acknowledges that
some deaths in the region result in burial or cremation elsewhere and that some funerals and cremations
result from the death of persons who lived outside the region.
The regional cremation rate had been gradually increasing since the Trust commenced operation of the
only crematorium in Geelong in 1988. Prior to 1988, the cremation rate for Geelong was approximately
twenty-five per cent with these cremations usually being performed at Ballarat or Altona crematoria.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
CHAIRMAN'S REPORT 2017(Continued)
FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
The Trust is an incorporated entity of the Victorian Public Sector. It operates on aself-funding and not-forprofit basis, without subsidy from the Victorian Government, the City of Greater Geelong, Surf Coast
Shire, Borough of Queenscliffe, Colac Otway Shire or any other source.
Revenue is raised by means of the Government-approved fees and charges earned by the Trust for the
services it directly provides.
The Operating Surplus and Net Result for the Trust in the twelve month period to 30 June 2017, together
with the Net Assets, is outlined in the table below, with prior years' figures included for comparison
purposes.
The bulk of the Surplus in 2016/17 is attributable to the increase in fees and charges from the 2016 Fee
Review approved and gazetted by Government in September 2016. The significant increase in Net
Assets (and Net Result) is as a result of a full revaluation of the Trusts non-current assets in accordance
with FRD 103F, which requires assets to be revalued at least every 5 years.
Actual
2016!17
$
6,652,201

Budget
2016/17
$
6,356,835

Actual
2015/16
$
6,475,841

Actual
2014/15
$
7,748,044

Actual
2013/14
$
5,154,401

Actual
2012/13
$
5,108,797

Less Expenditure
Operating Surplus/
(Deficit)

5,891,817

5,876,040

5,766,784

5,778,911

5,969,407

4,629,604

760,384

480,795

709,057

1,956,733

(596,511)

479,193

Net Result

6,166,438

480,795

689,962

1,969,133

(815,006)

485,366

Net Assets

21,062,659

15,235,721

14,896,221

14,206,259

11,974,790

12,789,796

Revenue

In addition, an amount of $838,146 was expended during the reporting period to 30 June 2017 on the
provision of Fixed Assets ($590,625 in 2016). The Trust has also expended significant funds, which were
set aside in the Development Works Program, in the current period for drainage works at the Eastern
Cemetery, Concrete Beam Replacement at the Eastern Cemetery, Removal of Cypress Trees from the
Eastern Cemetery and Building Repairs across various sites which has been recognised as Operating
Expenditure.
This is consistent with the Trusts policy of investing available funds in the development of the cemeteries
it administers, for the long term benefit of the Geelong and regional communities.
Control of New Cemeteries
As stated earlier, the Trust assumed responsibility for the administration and operations of five new
cemetery sites in recent years. Colac and Queenscliff Cemetery Trusts were abolished as from 8 July
2014 and handed to this Trust and three cemeteries from Colac Otway Shire (Beeac, Warncoort and
Whoorel (Birregurra)) were handed across to this Trust as from 21 October 2014.
Considerable staff time has been expended since the formal hand-over of each of the cemeteries to carry
out checks and verification of data provided. Analysis of burial books and records provided by each
Cemetery Trust is continuing and ongoing at this stage as there are a number of incomplete records and
missing details at various sites. A significant number of improvements have also been carried out at all
five sites since the transfers have been completed and this is expected to continue.
Major Projects
The major projects for the year were Stage 3 Road Construction works at Western Cemetery, roof
replacement works at the Crematorium, construction of a new store room at the Crematorium, Stage 2
development works of the Moonah Walk area at Queenscliff Cemetery and construction of concrete
beams at various sites.
There were also a number of minor projects for road maintenance, building maintenance and minor tree
works at various sites that continue to enhance each of those sites. Initial design plans have also been
completed for the Mausoleum Stage 3 development, planned to commence in 2017/18. More detail is
provided on these projects later in the report.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
CHAIRMAN'S REPORT 2017(Continued)
Revenue Sources
Income generated at the Trust's crematorium is a principal source of revenue used to cross-subsidise the
Trusts current and perpetual maintenance obligations at its various other cemetery sites with a
proportion of each cremation being allocated to a Plant &Equipment Replacement Reserve, which will
provide for the renovation or replacement of the cremators when required. Details of the amounts
allocated are shown in Note 13 of the Financial Statements. An annual allocation is also made to the
Perpetual Maintenance Reserve and this is also detailed in Note 13.
DEVELOPMENT WORKS
The Trusts development works program during the reporting period to 30 June 2017 included:
Administration
• Development Plans, Master Plans and Concept Plans for various sites.
• Redevelopment of the sales/family rooms to further improve customer/client privacy.
Eastern Cemetery, Geelong
• Cypress Tree removal.
• Construction of new Arbor &Rotunda.
• Drainage works NE corner for future development.
• Road Maintenance works and construction of additional Lawn Beams.
Western Cemetery, Herne Hill
• Construction of additional kerbing for sealing of roads (Stage 3).
Geelong Memorial Park 8~ Crematorium, Armstrong Creek
• Roof Replacement works.
• Construction of a New Refrigerated Store Room.
• Road Maintenance works.
• Completion of the upgraded Maintenance Compound.
Colac Cemetery, Colac
• Redevelopment of the Children's Area.
• Car park Development.
Queenscliff Cemetery, Point Lonsdale
• Initial Construction works associated with the Moonah Memorial Walk (Stage 2).
Bellarine Memorial Park, Marcus Hill
• Stage 3 Development including tree planting and construction of Shade House.
Lorne Cemetery, Lorne
• New Boundary Fence.
• Car park Development.
FORWARD PLANNING
Cremation Facilities
At Geelong Memorial Park crematorium, the Trust operates two high-volume computerised cremation
furnaces, manufactured by Austeng Pty Ltd of Geelong. As each furnace alone is capable of meeting the
current cremation requirements of the Geelong region, the Trust has considerable reserve capacity for a
future increase in the number of cremations being carried out.
Marcus Hill Land Purchase for Development of a Cemetery for the Bellarine Peninsula
The Trust purchased, during 2013/14, approximately 40 hectares of land at Marcus Hill for the
development of a cemetery site for the Bellarine Peninsula. This has now been officially named Bellarine
Memorial Park and initial tree planting has taken place. Works will be carried out over coming years to
develop burial areas, including a natural burial area, as well as cremation memorials.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
CHAIRMAN'S REPORT 2017(Continued)
FORWARD PLANNING (Continued)
Third Mausoleum for the Geelong Region
The Trust has completed construction of both Stage 1 and Stage 2 of the Mausoleum project. The Trusts
initial mausoleum development program envisaged three stages and as Stage 1 is now sold to 88% and
Stage 2 to 72% planning for Stage 3 is progressing with design plans completed and tender documents
being prepared. Approval for Stage 3 has already been received from the Department of Health and
Human Services and it is expected that construction will commence in 2017/18. Crypts still available in
Stages 1 and 2 are now only available for at-need purchasing with any pre-need purchases being made
off the plan for Stage 3.
Cemetery Land for the Future
The nineteen areas of Crown Land presently administered by the Trust are as detailed:

Area (ha.)
28.6

Approx. area (ha.)
remaining for future
development
5.6

Geelong Western Public Cemetery

8.4

Nil

Barrabool Hills Cemetery (Highton)

4.2

Nil

Grovedale Cemetery
Geelong Memorial Park
& Crematorium, Armstrong Creek
Mount Duneed Cemetery

0.4

Nil

42.8

37.1

0.8

0.3

Mount Moriac Cemetery

8.7

5.5

Winchelsea Cemetery

7.5

3.8

Lorne Cemetery

2.0

0.7

Leopold Cemetery

2.4

1.4

Drysdale Cemetery

5.7

3.3

Portarlington Cemetery

2.0

0.9

Flinders Memorial Park, Lara

25.8

24.2

Bellarine Memorial Park, Marcus Hill

39.6

39.6

Colac Cemetery

8.7

2.1

Queenscliff Cemetery (at Point Lonsdale)

5.6

2.9

The Eastern Cemetery, Geelong

Beeac Cemetery

3.7

3.0

Warncoort Cemetery

4.1

2.8

Whoorel Cemetery, Birregurra

2.4

1.4

203.4 ha.
(502.6 acres)

Total

134.6 ha.
(332.6 acres)

Under the current legislative provisions, the Trust is responsible for the perpetual maintenance of the
cemetery properties it administers, but not of individual monuments, even after all the graves are
occupied and a cemetery has little or no ability to generate further income.
While the Trust has sufficient cemetery land to meet the burial requirements of the Geelong urban area
and surrounding regions for many decades, it has now purchased an additional site at Marcus Hill on the
Bellarine Peninsula to cater for growth trends in that area as well as the development of the Armstrong
Creek Growth Area, south of Grovedale, towards Mount Duneed, which will be serviced by Geelong
Memorial Park. The Trust has also developed Flinders Memorial Park in Lara to cater for growth in the
northern suburbs and also now has an operational hub set up at Colac to cater for that region.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
CHAIRMAN'S REPORT 2017(Continued)
TRUST POLICIES 8~ PROCEDURES, KPI's AND REPORTING
During the reporting period the Trust further updated a significant number of its adopted policies and
procedures and reported on a number of Key Performance Indicators during the current reporting period
to work towards full compliance with the "Financial Management Compliance Framework". The reporting
and monitoring of KPI's will further assist the Trust in understanding the key drivers for the operations of
the Trust and also ensure compliance with the relevant directions in the "Financial Management
Compliance Framework". The Trust's Policy Manual is reviewed regularly for relevance and accuracy.
The Trust expects to review and update all policies over each two year period.
Key Performance Indicators monitored on a monthly basis and considered by the Trust are:

Lost Time Hours (total hours)

13/14
Actual
0

14/15
Actual
148

15/16
Actual
26

16/17
Tar et
0

16/17
Actual
306

Operating Surplus/Revenue

7.19%

4.19%

14.49%

10.68%

14.40%

Surplus/Employee (FTE)

$13,243

$10,120

$26,806

$19,398

$27,361

U nit Cost per Cremation

$298.51

$238.21

$253.49

$260.40

$214.63

Unit Cost per Burial

$663.81

$741.94

$761.53

$799.92

$810.77

Capital Expenditure/Depreciation

3.63

1.63

1.94

1.94

2.08

Working Capital Ratio
of Reserves & Pre-Paid
Liabilities Funded b Investments
Cash Flow (Operating)/Revenue

0.95

1.25

1.08

1.06

1.05

gg 58%

98.23%

100.45%

101.96°/o

101.71°/o

21.15%

10.58%

21.84%

17.88%

21.46%

1,293

1,417

1,352

1,340

1,509

807

921

974

1,002

919

62.80%

60.61%

58.13%

61.31%

62.15%

28.69%

27.03%

30.10%

27.68%

24.52%

26.45%

27.59%

36.91%

31.92%

34.26%

12.57

11.29

12.14

11.43

10.88

Indicator

N umber of Cremations
N umber of Burials/Entombments
Cremations to Total Funerals
of Cremations using Chapel
°/o of Cremations memorialised
Average Gas Used per Cremation
(Litres)

As can be seen, the Operating Surplus as a percentage of Revenue is well above target due to increased
revenue as is the Capital Expenditure to Depreciation ratio. Cremation unit costs are significantly lower
than expected with increased numbers of cremations and improved operating procedures whereas burial
u nit costs are higher with reduced numbers of burials. The Trusts Liabilities and Reserves are fully
funded and memorialisation rates are well above target. Chapel usage has declined following the
i ntroduction of a "Not Same Day" cremation service in November 2016.
TRUST MEMBER DETAILS
During the reporting period there were no changes to the membership of the Trust. Current Trust Member
appointment dates are as follows:
Appointment Completion
30 June 2018
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
CHAIRMAN'S REPORT 2017(Continued)
ATTENDANCE AT TRUST MEETINGS
The Trust held eleven monthly meetings during the year, excluding January 2017. Meetings are usually
held on the fourth Tuesday of the month and were held at "Karingal, Eastern Hub" in East Geelong.
Finance Committee
I n September 2010, the Trusts Committee structure was reviewed and amended which resulted in the
formation of a separate Finance Committee independent of the previous Audit, Finance & Risk
Committee. This Committee consists of all members of the Trust and I am also Chairman of this
Committee. This Committee also met eleven times during the reporting period.
The Finance Committee reviews current Investments and considers various new opportunities, reviews
and considers the Operating Statement and Balance Sheet, monitors annual Cash Flows, reviews and
approves monthly Creditor Payments, monitors the Key Performance Indicators (as previously discussed)
and reviews the Compliance Register — a detailed listing of their requirements under various Acts and
Regulations.
Audit 8~ Risk Committee
The Audit &Risk Committee consists of five of the existing Trust members, appointed by the Trust on a
bi-annual basis, plus one independent member. The Committee oversees the Internal Audit Program,
working closely with Crowe Horvath, reviewing areas of possible concern, often based on experiences of
Crowe Horvath in other audits they have carried out. Mr. Mark Crouch was appointed as an Independent
Member on 9 August 2016 for a period of two years. The Committee met on four occasions during the
reporting period. The members and their attendance details are listed in the table below. Helene Bender
remains Chair of the Audit &Risk Committee.
The Committee acknowledged the approval of the 2015/16 Financial Statements for signing and
presentation to the Victorian Auditor-General's Office for sign off at its meeting in August 2016.
Executive Performance and Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee was renamed the Executive Performance and Remuneration Committee
at the September 2016 meeting with a new Charter adopted. As per the Charter, the Committee
comprises the Trust Chair, Audit &Risk Chair and Community Advisory Committee Chair.
The Committee met as and when required, as indicated in the Trusts minutes, with the following dates
and issues considered:
•

September 2016 —review of the Committee's responsibilities, review of the structure and
amendment of the Charter to reflect these reviews.

•

November 2016 — to consider Senior Management Performance Reviews and Performance
Bonuses.

Annual Meeting
The Trust held its seventh Annual Meeting in December 2016, after being publicly advertised, with eleven
members of the public in attendance together with seven Trust Members, four Senior Management and
six Community Advisory Committee Members.
The meeting consisted of a presentation outlining the background of the Trust, the structure of the Trust
and Staff, the statistical results for the 2015/16 year and details on new developments that the Trust
initiated over the 12 months. There were also some informal discussions about cemeteries, in general.
Full details of the Annual Meeting have previously been provided to the Department of Health and Human
Services, as required under the Cemeteries and Crematoria Act 2003(as amended).
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
CHAIRMAN'S REPORT 2017(Continued)
ATTENDANCE AT TRUST MEETINGS (Continued)
Meeting Attendances
Details of attendance by Trust Members at the various meetings are outlined in the following table
Trust Member

L. J. Smith (Chairman)
S. M. Chisholm
H. F. Bender

Trust
Meetings
attended

Finance
Audit &Risk
Annual ':
Committee
Committee
(Public)
Meetings
Meetings
Meeting
attended
attended
attended
11 of 11
4 of 4
1
___..
_ ._... ._..._._..t_.._...__._...
_ _._._..--.,
_------...~_.__..__...
9 of 11
3 of 4

i 11 of 11
. ...
9 of 11
11 of 11

S. L. Gosling
_._..................._._............................_...._.._._.~.._...__..._._._.._._._..__._._.._._._.._....------...__._.._...._._.._._._..__r_._. 11 of 11
P. Mansfield
~ 10 of 11

11 of 11

4 of 4

1

~
11 of 11
1 of 4
~ _....._..................................._............. _ ._.._._._..........._........_....._........_~._....
N/A
~
10 of 11

._...._....._....................._._._..._...
i

._..~.. ._

_..

_....r....._.

1

___._._._....._....._.__........ i

1

M. G. Dawson

10 of 11

10 of 11

3 of 4

1

A. E. Brackley

11 of 11

11 of 11

N/A

1

M. Edmonds

10 of 11

10 of 11

N/A

-

J. A. W. Fairbairn

11 of 11

11 of 11

N/A

1

~

Mark Crouch also attended all three possible Audit & Risk Committee Meetings, following his
appointment to the Committee at their August 2016 meeting.
I n addition to attending the monthly Trust meetings, all Trust Members carry out bi-monthly inspections of
cemetery sites administered by the Trust. This is done on a rotational basis with all Trust Members
potentially visiting most of the Trust's sites over the course of the financial year. The Trust, as a whole,
also usually carries out an inspection of all Trusts properties and sites on an annual basis. This annual
i nspection in 2016/17 included the newer sites around Colac and also included members of the
Community Advisory Committee.
The Trust also sends its representatives to peak industry conferences, including those of the Cemeteries
and Crematoria Association of Victoria and the Australasian Cemeteries and Crematoria Association to
ensure that Trust Members and staff are fully aware of changes being introduced and implemented within
the industry.
Through regular attendance at these, the Trusts representatives have the opportunity to provide input to
any proposed changes to be implemented, either via the industry itself or the Department of Health and
Human Services.
Community Advisory Committee
The Trust formed its Community Advisory Committee in March 2011, as required, in its then new role as
a Class A Trust by publicly advertising and directly seeking expressions of interest from community
members. Appointments are for a two year period and members are asked to re-apply if they wish to
continue and expressions of interest from new potential members are also sought.
The Committee consisting of two Trust-appointed Trust Members —Sue Chisholm (Chair) and Anne
Brackley, and the following community members:
Anne Cowden, Brenda Richardson, Frederika Laurie, Susan Salter, Jim Fidge, Mick Harris, John Smelt,
Robert Missen, Noel Ryan, Kristine Mellens and Helene Cameron.
The Committee formally met on four occasions during the reporting period —with three meetings being
held at the "Karingal, Eastern Hub" in East Geelong, one meeting held in Colac (in conjunction with the
cemetery inspection tour previously mentioned).
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
CHAIRMAN'S REPORT 2017(Continued)
Community Advisory Committee (Continued)
The Committee has also been very active with public and community meeting attendances at the Mount
Duneed Progress Association, Probus Club of Colac, Point Lonsdale Civic Association, Colac Central
Probus Club, Grovedale Senior Citizens Club and Little River Lions Club.
The Committee also carries out tours of the Crematorium for the Gordon TAFE and specific cemeteries
for scouts and community groups when requested. Further community meetings are scheduled in late
2017 for a number of community groups.
MAJOR DEVELOPMENTS DURING 2016/17
There were a number of significant development works projects undertaken during the reporting period,
all completed with along-term perspective in mind. These projects were all funded from prior year surplus
funds and continue the Trust policy of re-investing for the future, as outlined previously.
Installation and Extension of Concrete Beams at Various Sites ($31,100)
The number of pre-purchased graves continues to grow requiring the Trust to construct additional new
beams and extend existing beams at a number of sites. During the reporting period, Trust staff have
completed these works at Eastern Cemetery, Whoorel Cemetery, Mount Moriac Cemetery, Leopold
Cemetery, Drysdale Cemetery, Portarlington Cemetery and Flinders Memorial Park.
Stage 3 of Construction of Kerbing and Sealing of Roads —Western Cemetery ($121,601)
The Trust had prepared a staged development to seal all internal roads within Western Cemetery. This
i ncludes upgrading the drainage and installing kerb and channel prior to sealing of the roads. Stage 1
was completed in 2014/15 with Stage 2 being completed last financial year and the 3`d (and final) Stage
being completed during 2016/17.
Stage 2 Construction of the Moonah Memorial Walk at Queenscliff Cemetery ($25,842)
Following on from Stage 1 during 2015/16, works have commenced on the development of Stage 2 of the
Moonah Memorial Walk in the adjacent woodlands. This `natural burial' area has proven extremely
popular with the local community with strong sales of ROI positions within Stage 1 throughout 2016/17 for
both graves and memorial positions.
Building Repair and Upgrade Works —Administration Office and GMP/Crematorium ($178,125)
A third Sales Rooms at the Administration Office has been constructed to be more welcoming for families
with appointments to purchase either Graves or Memorial Positions or order plaques for previously
purchased positions. In addition, the Crematorium roof has been replaced and a new refrigerated store
room constructed.
Amalgamation of Gisborne Cemetery
The Gisborne Cemetery Trust had expressed their wish to cease operating as a Class B Trust and
amalgamate into a larger Class A Trust, with their preference being the Geelong Cemeteries Trust.
Class A Trusts were given the opportunity to provide a Business Case as to how they would manage and
operate the site and this Trust has been in consultation with the Gisborne Cemetery Trust since October
2016 in regards to a mutually beneficial transfer that will suit both trusts and the Gisborne Community.
Due diligence reviews have been completed and community consultation has also taken place, and at the
time of writing this report the Trust is now waiting on Ministerial approval of the amalgamation.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
CHAIRMAN'S REPORT 2017(Continued)
TRUST PERSONNEL
Representation on Committees and Industry Associations
Trust members and Executive staff are represented on a number of Committees and Industry
Associations to use their knowledge and experience to assist in the guidance and development of the
sector and to also show this Trust's ongoing commitment and support to the sector.
The Chief Executive Officer is the current interim President and Chair of Finance of the Australasian
Cemeteries and Crematoria Association (ACCA) and apast-President of the Cemeteries and Crematoria
Association of Victoria (CCAV). He is also the continuing Australasian member on the board of the
I nternational Cremation Federation (ICF), appointed as from July 2011.
The Deputy CEO/Operations Manager is the President of CCAV and is also the current Chairperson of
the CCAV's Environmental Sustainability Focus Group.
The Manager -Finance &Administration has been a member of the Cemeteries Financial Policy
Committee (CFPC) since September 2006 and this group has considered a number of accounting and
finance issues specific to the Industry and provided guidance where required. This group meets
irregularly to provide support to the sector covering issues such as Perpetual Maintenance, Governance
Training, Chart of Accounts Review and updates on progress of Legislative Bills.
The Trust also provides Administrative support and/or Management support for the following Industry
Committees on a regular basis —Funeral Industry Consultative Committee (FICC) and the Community
Advisory Committee (CAC). This involves preparation and distribution of Agendas and Minutes as well as
presentations made at community meetings.
Integrated Cemetery Management System -Hosting Class B Trusts Data
As previously reported, the Trust is considering the possibility of hosting a number of Class B Trust's data
on its existing Cemetery Management System. In conjunction with the supplier of the system,
OpusXenta, a proposal has been developed outlining the requirements. The project is experiencing some
delays but is anticipated to progress during 2017/18 and is seen as a positive move forward. It will ensure
the protection and integrity of data for Class B Trusts. It will also allow a smooth transition of data to a
Class A Trust should the Class B Trust seek to be wound up and merged with the Class A Trust.
REQUIREMENTS OF VICTORIAN GOVERNMENT
The workload for the Trust to comply with the requirements of many Departments and Agencies of the
Victorian Government together with a number of special reviews and audits continues to increase. In
addition, as a Class A Trust, the Trust is now required, and appreciates the opportunity, to provide
guidance and advice to the smaller regional cemeteries in Victoria on an ongoing basis. This has resulted
in many hours of support and assistance being provided to a large number of Class B Trusts on an
ongoing basis. A total of 55 hours were provided during the current reporting period.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRlJST
CHAIRMAN'S REPORT 2017 yContinued)
PREMPE6~'S SUSTAINABILITY AWARD 201$
In October 2010 the Geelong Cemeteries Trust was very humbled and proud to win the Environmental
Protection Category of the Premiers Sustainability Awards. The project submitted for the awards was the
Moonah Memorial Walk at the Queensciiff Cemetery. By working with the community and local
government, the Trust was able to create the Moonah Memorial Walk that now provides burial and
m emorial space, while ensuring that the value of the native vegetation is retained.
T his project has gained interest within the cemetery industry, both nationally and internationally, and is a
first for working with existing original vegetation to create a true natural burial setting. I would like to place
on record the Trust's thanks to our wonderful staff for their creativity and hard work in completing the
project. and also thank the Council and the Communities of Queenscliff and Point Lonsdale for their
support and enthusiasm.

THANKS AND APPRECIATION
As this is my sixth Annual Report as the Trusts Chairman, I take this opportunity to express my thanks
and appreciation to:
our Trust Members for their guidance and dedication to their responsibilities and duties as
representatives of the residents of the Geelong, Surf Coast, Queenscliff and Colac Otway
regions and for acting so capably and harmoniously in their interests at ail times.
•

the Chief Executive Officer, the deputy CEO &Operations Manager, the Manager -finance &
Administration, the Executive Assistant and the Staff of the Trust for the caring and
conscientious manner in which they have performed their duties on behalf of the communities
in which we operate.

The Geelong Cemeteries Trust is an integral part of our community but doesn't figure prominently in the
media or the thoughts of most of our citizens. i am proud of this fact as it demonstrates that our team is
professional empathetic to the needs of our community.

fl

15 Augy(st 2017

Page 10

GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
FURTHER INFORMATION 2017
AUTHORITY OF THE TRUST
Geelong Cemeteries Trust was established on 1 January 1985 by the Governor-in-Council, and became
i ncorporated on 1 January 1996 under the Cemeteries (Incorporation of Trusts) Regulations 1995. The
authority of the Trust is provided by the Cemeteries and Crematoria Act 2003, which was enacted in 2005
and applied as from 1 July 2005. The Trust was designated as a Class A Trust as from 1 March 2010
following amendments to the Cemeteries and Crematoria Act 2003.
The Trust is responsible to the Minister for Health (Victoria), and the Trust Members are appointed to
their positions by the Minister for Health and approved by the Governor-in-Council.
The Trust manages nineteen areas of Crown Land within the Geelong and surrounding regions, at:
The Eastern Cemetery, Geelong

Geelong Memorial Park &Crematorium

Geelong Western Public Cemetery
Barrabool Hilis (Highton) Cemetery

Leopold Cemetery
Drysdale Cemetery

Grovedale (Germantown) Cemetery

Portarlington Cemetery

Mount Duneed Cemetery

Flinders Memorial Park

Mount Moriac Cemetery

Winchelsea Cemetery

Lorne Cemetery

Bellarine Memorial Park, Marcus Hill

Colac Cemetery

Queenscliff Cemetery, Point Lonsdale
Warncoort Cemetery

Beeac Cemetery
Whoorel (Birregurra) Cemetery
FINANCIAL

Geelong Cemeteries Trust is an incorporated entity of the Victorian Public Sector. It operates on a selffunding and not-for-profit basis without external subsidy, and its:
•

•
•

fees and charges are subject to approval by the Governor-in-Council (published in the
Government Gazette), and are detailed in full on the Department of Health &Human
Services website,
Financial Statements are audited by the Victorian Auditor-General, and
the Annual Report is tabled in the Victorian Parliament.

The principal fees adopted by the Trust, are as follows:
2016/17
Year

2015/16
Year

- lawn section

1 ,880

1,670

- lawn monument section

2,765

2,470

- monument section

1 ,880

1,670

- freestyle memorial lawn areas

4,180

3,700

- Concrete-Lined Grave

8,135

7,985

1,750

1,490

-delivered for cremation before 10.00 a.m.

795

995

- delivered for cremation from 10.00 a.m

995

1 ,075

595

N/A

200

1 50

GST EXEMPT
Grant of Right of Interment

GST INCLUSIVE FEES
I nterment Fee (weekday, adult)
Cremation Fee (weekday, adult)

not same day cremation
Use of chapel(60 minutes)
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
FURTHER INFORMATION 2017(Continued)
STAFF
There are thirty-five full-time staff employed by the Trust, being:

Chief Executive Officer
Deputy CEO/Operations Manager
Finance &Administration Manager
Executive Assistant
Supervisors/Team Leaders
Cemeteries &Crematorium Staff
Administration Staff

(Mr. D. L. Thomas)
(Mr. F. de Groot)
(Mr. T. J. Colbert)
(Ms. A. Hoy)

TOTALS

As at
30 June 2017
1
1
1
1
3
22
6
35

As at
30 June 2016
1
1
1
1
3
22
6
35

Staff members are appointed and assessed having regard to criteria of ability, equity and work
performance. In addition, some grounds maintenance duties are performed by contractors.
ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
GEELONG
CEMETERIES
TRUST
(9 MEMBERS)

FINANCE COMMITTEE

A UDIT &RISK COMMITTEE

COMMUNITY ADVISORY
COMMITTEE

EXECUTIVE PERFORMANCE &
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

DEPUTY CEO/
OPERATIONS MANAGER

MANAGER
FINANCE &ADMINISTRATION
EXECUTIVE
ASSISTANT

FINANCIAL
ACCOUNTANT

COLAC
SUPERVISOR

FUNERALS
SUPERVISOR

TEAM LEADER
CONSTRUCTION
WORKS

ASSISTANT
FUNERALS
SUPERVISOR

ADMINISTRATION
STAFF (3)

SALES
(2)

CEMETERY
STAFF (3)
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CEMETERIES &CREMATORIUM
STAFF (18)

GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
FURTHER INFORMATION 2017(Continued)
STAFF (Continued)
The following table categorises staff by gender and age for the current and previous reporting periods
with all staff ongoing and employed full time in each year.

Staff as at 30 June 2017
Gender

Staff as at 30 June 2016

No.

Gender

No.

Female

7

Female

7

Male

28

Male

28

Age

No.

Age

No.

Under 25

4

Under 25

4

25-34

5

25-34

3

35 — 44

7

35 — 44

10

45-54

11

45-54

12

55-64

7

55-64

5

Over 64

1

Over 64

1

Employees are selected on the basis of ability, knowledge and skills in fair and open competition that
ensures equal opportunity. Promotion and advancement of qualified individuals is based on these same
principles, relevant to the position involved.
Employees receive fair and equitable treatment without regard to race, colour, sex, sexual preference,
age, physical or mental disability, pregnancy, religion, political opinion, national extraction or social origin.
Audit 8 Risk Committee Membership
The Audit &Risk Committee currently comprises five Trust Members plus one independent Member
(appointed in August 2016), with the Members being:
Trust Members — H. F. Bender (Chair), L. J. Smith, S. M. Chisholm, S. L. Gosling and M. G. Dawson.
Independent Member — G. M. Crouch.
Finance Committee Membership
All Trust Members are members of the Finance Committee and the Finance Committee meets prior to the
full Trust Meeting.
Executive Performance 8~ Remuneration Committee Membership
Members of the Executive Performance &Remuneration Committee are Trust Members, with the current
committee being:
L. J. Smith (Chair), H. F. Bender, S. M. Chisholm.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
FURTHER INFORMATION 2017(Continued)
OTHER REPORTABLE MATTERS/DISCLOSURES
Promotional material concerning the role of the Trust, and the goods and services it will provide for a fee,
is available from the Administration Office of the Trust, 141 Ormond Road, Geelong East 3219.
During the reporting period the Trust again revised a number of promotional brochures and price lists
detailing goods and services available for all sites (including new sites) administered by the Trust.
Freedom of Information Act 1982.
No applications were received during the reporting period for information to be made available under the
Freedom of Information Act 1982. Mr. D. L. Thomas, CEO of the Trust, is the FOI officer.
National Competition Policy.
The Trust adheres to the principles of the National Competition Policy(NCP)to ensure that any business
related competition with private firms and entities takes place in an environment free from competitive
advantages.
Occupational Health 8~ Safety Act 2004.
The Trust has an active Occupational Health &Safety Committee that meets on a regular basis and
considers potential risks to staff and customers as well as reviews any claims incurred. The Trust has
appointed a Return to Work Co-Ordinator, Mrs. L. M. Wallace, to assist staff returning to work if, and
when, required. Annual Risk Assessments are carried out, via the Committee, for plant &equipment,
manual handling and general work practices of the Trust. Details of claims for the current reporting period
and previous two reporting periods are provided in the following table.
2016/17

2015/16

2014/15

N umber of reported hazards/incidents for the year

6

8

5

N umber of "Lost time" standard claims for the year

1

1

3

34

3

19

$5,489

$170

$1,043

Description/Indicator

N umber of working days lost as a result of these claims
Average cost per claim for the year
Environmental Performance

During the reporting period the Trust continued to take part in a "Recycling of Metals Following
Cremation" program through a company called OrthoMetals (via a local company — Austeng Engineered
Solutions), with 321 kg of metals collected and recycled. All funds raised from the program are returned to
charities nominated by the Trust with approximately $8,315 being distributed by this Trust in this reporting
period.
The Trust continues to recycle all paper, plastic and printer cartridges from within the Administration
Office as well as supplying a local primary school with cardboard to reuse in their art program.
The Trust continues to recycle plastic name plates from coffins after cremation, as well as decommissioned cremated remains containers. Six rain water tanks are used at various properties to
harvest and store rainwater and drip feeding irrigation tubing is now used across Trust sites to water
roses.
The Trust planted over 1,500 grasses, shrubs and trees along Yarram Creek at Marcus Hill. This program
will continue into next financial year. The Trust still retains its membership with the Bellarine Land Care
Group and continues to actively control rabbits across problem sites using DELWP approved contractors.
The Trust also received Planning approval for construction of Stage 2 of existing Coastal Moonah
Woodland area at the Queenscliff Cemetery, restoring the natural area with weed management, planting
indigenous trees, shrubs, herbs and grasses and creating a true green burial option for the community.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
FURTHER INFORMATION 2017(Continued
Environmental Performance(Continued
Organically manufactured sprays from Organic Crop Protectants are still utilised to control Aphids and
Blackspot on roses, plus Sooty Mould and Scale on ornamental trees and shrubs. Using these organic
sprays eliminates any potential chemical risk to staff and the public when controlling fungi and pests in
rose gardens and ornamental gardens, as well as only controlling targeted insects and retaining
beneficial insects within our environment. Trust staff continues trialling organic herbicide sprays with
mixed results.
All uncontaminated green waste is chipped for utilisation as garden mulch for Trust landscape projects.
The Trust continues to fill low lying land with clean fill to reclaim previously unsuitable ground for future
burials at one site, which will eventually be fully landscaped and ready for burials and cremation
memorials.
Protected Disclosures Act 2012.
No disclosures were made during the reporting period to the responsible officer of the Trust under the
Protected Disclosures Act 2012. Mr. D. L. Thomas, CEO of the Trust, is the responsible officer.
Building Act 1993.
The Trust performs regular inspections of the condition of the buildings and properties for which it is
responsible, and carries out maintenance work as necessary.
Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003.
The Trust did not commence or complete any projects during the current financial period to which this
policy applied.
FRD 22G —Standard Disclosures in the Regort of Operations
Declarations of pecuniary interest have been duly completed by all relevant officers.
No shares are held by Trust members or senior officers as nominees or held beneficially in a statutory
authority or subsidiary.
There were no major external reviews carried out on the Trust during the 2016/17 financial year.
There was no major research or development activity carried out by the Trust during the 2016/17 financial
year.
During the reporting period there were no overseas trips.
There was no time lost through Trust staff being involved in industrial disputes and 34 working days were
lost through industrial accidents, as detailed previously.
Details of all consultancies and contractors, including services provided and expenditure committed, is
retained by the Trust and is available on request, subject to the provisions of the FOI Act.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
FURTHER INFORMATION 2017(Continued)
FRD 22G —Standard Disclosures in the Regort of Operations(Continued)
Details of Consultancies
During 2016/17 there were two consultancies where the total fees payable to the consultant were $10,000
or greater. Details of these consultancies are available from the Trust's Administration Office, have been
approved by the Trust at their Trust Meeting and are included in the table below.
Total
Ex enditure ~
Future
approved
p
2016/17 ~ expenditure
Purpose of
Start ;
~
~
Consultant
End Date ~ project fee
(excluding
(excluding
consultancy
Date
(excluding
GST)
GST)
GST
- ------ - - --- ,-- ------- - -;-- - -1/1/17
30/6/17
$11,076
$10,000
Dacava Pty Ltd EBA Negotiations
$15,000
r

r Ale-Dantay &
Acemen

'Customer Service
;Strategy

1/9/16

30/6/17

$40,000

$31,562

$15,000

During 2016/17 there were a total of four other consultancies where the total fees payable to the
consultants were less than $10,000. The total expenditure incurred during 2016/17 in relation to these
consultancies was $15,626 (excl. GST). The Trust engaged consultants for the following projects:
Arboricultural Surveys and Advice

$ 7,166

Policy DevelopmenUUpdate

$ 4,300

Due Diligence Report — Gisborne Cemetery Amalgamation

$ 2,400

Tax Compliance Framework Review

1 760
$ 15,626

Details of ICT Expenditure
Total Business as Usual(BAU)ICT Expenditure for the reporting period was $125,700.
There was no Non-BAU ICT Expenditure for the reporting period.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
FURTHER INFORMATION 2017 (Continued)
ATTESTATION

Attestation for Risk Management Framework artd Processes
I, Darryl L. Thomas, certify that the Geelong Cemeteries Trust has complied with Ministerial Direction
3.7.1 -Risk Management Framework and Processes. The Geelong Cemeteries Trust's Audit &Risk
Committee verifies this.

~~
D. L. THOMAS
Accountable Officer

Geelong, Victoria
T 5 August 2017
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GEEL4NG
CEMETERIES TRUST
Caring for the Barwvn Region

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED
30 JUNE 2017

GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
TRUST MEMBER'S, ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER'S AND
CHIEF FINANCE 8 ACCOUNTING OFFICER'S DECLARATION

We certify that the attached Financial Statements for Geelong Cemeteries Trust have been prepared in
accordance with Standing Direction 5.2 of the Financial Management Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting
Directions (FRDs), Australian Accounting Standards including Interpretations, and other mandatory professional
reporting requirements.
We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the Comprehensive Operating Statement, Balance
Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Cash Flow Statement and notes to the Financial Statements, presents
fairly the financial transactions during the year ended 30 June 2017 and the financial position of Geelong
Cemeteries Trust at 3Q June 2017.
At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance which would render any particulars included in the
Financial Statements to be misleading or inaccurate.
We authorise the attached Financial Statements for issue on this day.

Y
i ~7/~—

D.L. THOMAS
Chief Executive Officer/Accountable Officer

T.J. COLBERT CPA
Chief Finance and Accounting Officer

Geelong, Victoria
15 August 2017
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
COMPREHENSIVE OPERATING STATEMENT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Note

Revenue
Cemetery Operations Income
Cost of Sales

Investment Income

2017

2016

$

$

2(a)
2(d)

6,271,241
(119,617)
6,151,624

6,123,852
(157,226)
5,966,626

2(b)

380,960

351,989

Total Revenue
Expenses
Employee Benefits
Depreciation
Administrative Costs
Maintenance and Operating Costs
Cemetery Levy

2(c)
2(e)
2(fl
2(g)
2(h)

Total Expenses
Operating Result for the Year

(3,203,151)
(469,858)
(778,148)
(1,123,779)
(197,264)

(3,116,222)
(482,365)
(603,291)
(1,217,523)
(190,157)

( 5,772,200)

(5,609,558)

760,384

709,057

( 19,095)

Other Comprehensive Income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to net result
Net fair value gains/(losses) on Other Financial Assets

13(c)

82,877

Items that will not be reclassified to net result
Net fair value revaluation on Non Financial Assets

13(c)

5,323,177
( 19,095)

Comprehensive Result for the Year

The Comprehensive Operating Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 30 JUNE 2017
Note
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
I nventories
Other current assets

2017
$

4
5
6
7

2016
$

4,468,567
496,676
54,010
1,240

4,015,766
367,825
76,290
2,021

5,020,493

4,461,902

6,018,706
26,539
1,733,773
605,941
5,049,000
7,703,221
1,353,674

5,316,370
34,309
1,679,874
528,704
2,967,510
4,289,469
1,331,188

Total Non-Current Assets

22,490,854

16,147,424

Total Assets

27,511,347

20,609,326

589,453
636,532
412,656
4,686,677

485,212
636,253
312,301
4,162,510

6,325,318

5,596,276

123,370

116,829

123,370

116,829

6,448,688

5,713,105

21,062,659

14,896,221

7,092,840
1,328,379
12,641,440

7,092,840
937,495
6,865,886

21,062,659

14,896,221

Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets
Other financial assets
Receivables
I nventories
Land -infrastructure
I nfrastructure works
Buildings and improvements
Property, plant and equipment

8
5
6
9
9
9
9

Current Liabilities
Payables
Provision for employee benefits
Other provisions
Unearned income

10
11(a)
11(b)
12

Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Provision for employee benefits

11(a)

Total Non-Current Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Net Assets
Equity
Contributed capital
Accumulated surplus
Reserves

13(a)
13(b)
13(c)

Total Equity
Commitments for expenditure
Contingent assets
Contingent liabilities

15
16
17

The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
Note

2017
Accumulated Surplus
Transfer (to)/from Plant &Equipment Replacement
Reserve
Transfer (to)/from Perpetual Maintenance Reserve

Equity at
1 July 2016
$

13(b)

937,495

13(b)
13(b)

-

Equity at
Movements 30 June 2017
$
$
760,384

1,697,879

5,500
(375,000)

5,500
(375,000)

937,495

390,884

1,328,379

-

7,092,840
7,092,840

Contributed Capital

13(a)

7,092,840
7,092,840

Reserves
Plant &Equipment Replacement
Perpetual Maintenance
Property, Plant &Equipment Revaluation Surplus
Available for Sale Investments Revaluation Surplus

13(c)
13(c)
13(c)
13(c)

897,800
4,128,357
1,820,424
19,305

(5,500)
375,000
5,323,177
82,877

892,300
4,503,357
7,143,601
102,182

6,865,886

5,775,554

12,641,440

14,896,221

6,166,438

21,062,659

Total Equity at the end of the Year

Equity at
1 July 2015
$
2016
Accumulated Surplus
Transfer (to)/from Plant &Equipment Replacement
Reserve
Transfer (to)/from Perpetual Maintenance Reserve

1 3(b)

808,938

1 3(b)
13(b)

-

Equity at
Movements 30 June 2016
$
$
709,057

1,517,995

(205,500)
(375,000)

(205,500)
(375,000)

808,938

128,557

937,495

-

7,092,840
7,092,840

Contributed Capital

13(a)

7,092,840
7,092,840

Reserves
Plant &Equipment Replacement
Perpetual Maintenance
Property, Plant &Equipment Revaluation Surplus
Available for Sale Investments Revaluation Surplus

13(c)
13(c)
13(c)
13(c)

692,300
3,753,357
1,820,424
38,400

205,500
375,000
(19,095)

897,800
4,128,357
1,820,424
19,305

6,304,481

561,405

6,865,886

14,206,259

689,962

14,896,221

Total Equity at the end of the Year

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Note

2017

2016

I nflows/
(Outflows)
$

Inflows/
(Outflows)
$

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from burials and cremations (inclusive of GST)
Other income (inclusive of GST)
Payments to suppliers &employees (inclusive of GST)
I nterest received
GST recovered from the Australian Taxation Office
GST paid to the Australian Taxation Office

4,819,949
2,180,732
( 5,495,440)
373,999
254,059
( 371,861)

4,913,506
1,797,380
(5,290,660)
352,925
225,444
(357,940)

1,761,438

1,640,655

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Payments for other financial assets
Redeemed other financial assets (excluding earnings)
Payments for property, plant &equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant &equipment

( 1,619,459)
1,000,000
( 843,145)
1 53,967

(2,097,065)
539,000
(590,625)
153,165

Net Cash Flows(Used In) Investing Activities

( 1,308,637)

(1,995,525)

Net Cash Inflows from Operating Activities

14(b)

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

452,801

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of the Financial Year
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Financial Year

14(a)

4,015,766

4,370,636

4,468,567

4,015,766

The Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Page 5

(354,870)

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2017
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Non-Current Assets
I nventories
Other Financial Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment
Gross Carrying Amount and Accumulated Depreciation
Reconciliation of Property, Plant and Equipment
Aggregate Depreciation Recognised as an Expense During the Year
Fair Value Measurement Hierarchy for Assets as at 30 June 2017
Reconciliation of Level 3 Fair Value
Description of Significant Unobservable Inputs to Level 3 Valuations
Liabilities
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Provisions -Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs Provisions
Provisions -Other Provisions
Unearned Income
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Contributed Capital
Accumulated Surplus
Reserves
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Reconciliation of Cash
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 30 June 2017
Note 1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies
These financial statements of the Geelong Cemeteries Trust (the Trust) constitute a general purpose financial report
which has been prepared in accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994, applicable Australian Accounting
Standards (AAS's) which includes interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board.
The financial statements also comply with relevant Financial Reporting Directions(FRD) issued by the Department
of Treasury and Finance, and relevant Standing Directions(SD) authorised by the Minister for Finance. In complying
with AAS, the Geelong Cemeteries Trust has, where relevant, applied those paragraphs applicable for not-for-profit
entities.
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Trust Members of the Geelong Cemeteries Trust on
15 August 2017.
Basis of Accounting Preparation and Measurement
Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information
satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions
or other events is reported.
The accounting policies set out below have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2017, and the comparative information for the year ended 30 June 2016.
The going concern basis was used to prepare these financial statements
These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, the functional and presentation currency of the Trust.
The financial statements, except for cash flow information, have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.
U nder the accrual basis, items are recognised as assets, liabilities, equity, income or expenses when they satisfy
the definition and recognition criteria for those items, that is they are recognised in the reporting period to which they
relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, except for:
- non-current physical assets, which subsequent to acquisition, are measured at their fair value at the date of the
revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent impairment losses. Revaluations are
made and are re-assessed when new indices are published by the Valuer General of Victoria (VGV)to ensure that
the carrying amounts do not materially differ from their fair values; and
- other financial assets, namely available-for-sale investments which are measured at fair value with movements
reflected in equity until the asset is derecognised (i.e. other comprehensive income -items that may be
reclassified subsequent to net result).
Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
professional judgements derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Consistent with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, the Trust determines the policies and procedures for recurring
fair value measurements such as property, plant &equipment and financial instruments, and for non-recurring fair
value measurements such as non-financial physical assets held for sale, in accordance with the requirements of
AASB 13 and the relevant FRD's.

Page 7

GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Note 1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole;
(a) Level 1 -Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
Trust can access at measurement date.
(b) Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly.
(c) Level 3 -Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Trust has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of
the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.
I n addition, the Trust determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
The Valuer-General of Victoria (VGV) is the Trust's independent valuation agency.
The Trust, in conjunction with VGV, monitors the changes in the fair value of each asset and liability through relevant
data sources to determine whether revaluation is required.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the
revision, and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. Judgements and assumptions made
by management in the application of AAS that have significant effect on the financial statements and estimates, with
a risk of material adjustments in the subsequent reporting period, relate to:
(i) the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to Note 9)
(ii) superannuation (refer to Note 19)
(iii) assumptions for employee benefit provisions based on likely tenure of existing staff, patterns of leave
claims, future salary movements and future discount rates (refer to Note 11(a))
(iv) cost assumptions for the calculation of the provision for loss on pre-paid fees (refer to Note 11(b))
(a)

Reporting Entity
The financial report includes the controlled activities of the Geelong Cemeteries Trust. The Geelong
Cemeteries Trust was established under the Cemeteries Act 1890 and the operations are governed by the
Cemeteries and Crematoria Act 2003. The financial statements of the Geelong Cemeteries Trust include
Geelong Eastern Cemetery, Geelong Western Public Cemetery, Grovedale (Germantown) Cemetery,
Mount Duneed Cemetery, Geelong Memorial Park and Crematorium, Leopold (Kensington) Cemetery,
Drysdale (Bel~arine) Cemetery, Portarlington Cemetery, Highton (Barrabool Hills) Cemetery, Flinders
Memorial Park, Lorne Cemetery, Mount Moriac Cemetery, Winchelsea Cemetery, Queenscliff Cemetery,
Colac Cemetery, Beeac Cemetery, Warncoort Cemetery, Birregurra (Whoorel) Cemetery and Bellarine
Memorial Park (Marcus Hill).
The objective of the Trust is to provide cemeteries, crematorium and memorialisation services to the public.
IYs principal address is: "The Gatehouse", Eastern Cemetery, 141 Ormond Road, East Geelong 3219.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 30 June 2017
Note 1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(b) Scope and Presentation of Financial Statements
Comprehensive Operating Statement
The Comprehensive Operating Statement presents the operating result of the Geelong Cemeteries Trust. It
presents significant categories of income and expenses included in the operating result to enhance the
understanding of the financial performance of the Trust. It also shows other comprehensive income included
i n the comprehensive result for the year.
Balance Sheet
Assets and liabilities are categorised either as current or non-current (non-current being those assets or
liabilities expected to be recovered more than 12 months after the reporting period), and are disclosed in the
notes where relevant.
Statement of Changes in Equity
The Statement of Changes in Equity presents reconciliations of each non-owner and owner equity opening
balance at the beginning of the reporting period to the closing balance at the end of the reporting period. It
also shows separately changes due to amounts recognised in the comprehensive result and amounts
recognised in other comprehensive income related to other non-owner changes in equity.
Cash Flow Statement
Cash flows are classified according to whether or not they arise from operating activities, investing activities,
or financing activities. This classification is consistent with the requirements of AASB107 Statement of
Cash Flows.
(c)

Goods and Services Tax
I ncome, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:
(a) where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office, it is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or
(b) for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation Office is included as part
of receivables or payables.
Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows
arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the Australian
Taxation Office is classified as cash flows from operating activities.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 30 June 2017
Note 1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(d) Amalgamations and Mergers
On 12 August 2010, the Surf Coast Shire gifted the following assets to the Geelong Cemeteries Trust.
- Lorne Cemetery
- Winchelsea Cemetery
- Mt. Moriac Cemetery
Cemetery assets acquired from the Surf Coast Shire were taken up at book value at the date of transfer.
Crown assets acquired remain the property of the Crown; however they are reported as assets of the
cemetery because effective control passes to the cemetery along with a substantial benefit. The value of
the assets transferred were:
- Land, Buildings and Infrastructure
- Cash
- Inventory

146,006
88,705
14,786
249,497

The Council also made a commitment to fund the perpetual maintenance reserve in the future in the amount
of $77,316, to be paid to the Trust over a ten year period. The balance owing, excluding interest, is $34,309
(2016 - $41,605) and this is recognised in Receivables.
Current Receivables of $7,770(2016 - $7,296)
Non-Current Receivables of $26,539(2016 - $34,309)
(e)

Rounding of Amounts
All amounts shown in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest dollar.

(f)

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations
Certain accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for the 30 June
2017 reporting period. As at 30 June 2017, the following standards and interpretations had been issued by
AASB but were not yet effective. They become effective for the first financial statements for reporting periods
commencing after the stated operative dates as detailed in the table below. Geelong Cemeteries Trust has
not and does not intend to adopt these standards early.
Standard /
Interpretation

Summary

AASB 9 Financial
Instruments

The key changes include the
1 Jan 2018
simplified requirements for the
classification and measurement of
financial assets, a new hedging
accounting model and a revised
i mpairment loss model to recognise
i mpairment losses earlier, as
opposed to the current approach
that recognises impairment only
when incurred.

Impact on Trusts Financial
Applicable
for reporting Statements
periods
beginning on
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The assessment has identified that
the amendments are likely to result in
earlier recognition of impairment
losses and at more regular intervals.
While there will be no significant
impact arising from AASB 9, there will
be a change to the way financial
instruments are disclosed.

GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Note 1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(~

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued)
Standard /
I nterpretation

Summary

Impact on Trusts Financial
plicable
for reporting Statements
periods
beginning on

AASB 2010-7
Amendments to
Australian
Accounting
Standards arising
from AASB 9
(December 2010)

The requirements for classifying
1 Jan 2018
and measuring financial liabilities
were added to AASB 9. The existing
requirements for the classification of
financial liabilities and the ability to
use the fair value option have been
retained. However, where the fair
value option is used for financial
liabilities the change in fair value is
accounted for as follows:
- The change in fair value
attributable to changes in credit risk
is presented in other
comprehensive income (OCI); and
- Other fair value changes are
presented in profit and loss. If this
approach creates or enlarges an
accounting mismatch in the profit or
loss, the effect of the changes in
credit risk are also presented in
profit or loss.

The assessment has identified that
the financial impact of available for
sale (AFS) assets will now be
reported through other
comprehensive income (OCI) and no
longer recycled to the profit and loss.
Changes in own credit risk in respect
of liabilities designated at fair value
through profit and loss will now be
presented within other comprehensive
i ncome (OCI).
Hedge accounting will be more
closely aligned with common risk
management practices making it
easier to have an effective hedge. For
entities with significant lending
activities, an overhaul of related
systems and processes may be
needed.

AASB 2014-1
A mendments to
A ustralian
Accounting
Standards Part E
Financial
Instruments]

mends various AAS's to reflect the 1 Jan 2018
ASB's decision to defer the
mandatory application date of AASB
9 to annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January
2018 as a consequence of Chapter
6 Hedge Accounting, and to amend
reduced disclosure requirements.

This amending standard will defer the
application period of AASB 9 to the
2018-19 reporting period in
accordance with the transition
requirements.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 30 June 2017
Note 1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(f)

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued)
Standard /
Interpretation

Summary

Applicable
Impact on Trust's Financial
for reporting Statements
periods
beginning on

AASB 2014-5
Amendments to
Australian
Accounting
Standards arising
from AASB 15

Amends the measurement of trade
receivables and the recognition of
dividends.
Trade receivables, that do not have
a significant financing component,
are to be measured at their
transaction price, at initial
recognition.
Dividends are recognised in the
profit and loss only when:
- the entity's right to receive
payment of the dividend is
established;
- it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the entity; and
the amount can be measured
reliably.

1 Jan 2017,
except
amendments
to AASB 9
(Dec 2009)
and AASB 9
(Dec 2010)
apply from 1
Jan 2018

The assessment has indicated that
there will be no significant impact for
the public sector.

AASB 2014-7
Amendments to
A ustralian
Accounting
Standards arising
from AASB 9
AASB 15 Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers

Amends various AAS's to
incorporate the consequential
amendments arising from the
issuance of AASB 9.

1 Jan 2018

The assessment has indicated that
there will be no significant impact for
the public sector.

The core principle of AASB 15
requires an entity to recognise
revenue when the entity satisfies a
performance obligation by
transferring a promised good or
service to a customer.

1 Jan 2018

The changes in revenue recognition
requirements in AASB 15 may result
in changes to the timing and amount
of revenue recorded in the financial
statements. The Standard will also
require additional disclosures on
service revenue and contract
modifications.
This amending standard will defer the
application period of AASB 15 for forprofit entities to the 2018-19 reporting
period in accordance with the
transition requirements.

AASB 2015-8
A mendments to
Australian
Accounting
Standards Effective Date of
AASB 15

This Standard defers the mandatory 1 Jan 2018
effective date of AASB 15 from 1
January 2017 to 1 January 2018.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 30 June 2017
Note 1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies(continued)
(f)

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued)
Standard /
Interpretation

AASB 2016-3
Amendments to
Australian
Accounting
Standards Clarifications to
AASB 15

AASB 2016-4
Amendments to
A ustralian
Accounting
Standards Recoverable
Amount of NonCash-Generating
Specialised Assets
of Not-for-Profit
Entities
AASB 2016-7
A mendments to
Australian
Accounting
Standards Deferral ofAASB
15 for Not-for-Profit
Entities

Summary

Applicable
Impact on Trust's Financial
for reporting Statements
periods
beginning on

This Standard amends AASB 15 to 1 Jan 2018
clarify the requirements on
identifying performance obligations,
principal versus agent
considerations and the timing of
recognising revenue from granting a
licence. The amendments require:
- a promise to transfer to a
customer a good or service that is
"distinct" to be recognised as a
separate performance obligation;
- For items purchased online, the
entity is a principal if it obtains
control of the good or service prior
to transferring to the customer; and
- For licences identified as being
distinct from other goods or services
in a contract, entities need to
determine whether the licence
transfers to the customer over time
(right to use) or at a point in time
(right to access).

The assessment has indicated that
there will be no significant impact for
the public sector, other than the
impact identified for AASB 15 above.

The standard amends AASB 136
1 Jan 2017
Impairment of Assets to remove
references to using depreciated
replacement cost(DRC)as a
measure of value in use for not-forprofit entities.

The assessment has indicated that
there is minimal impact. Given the
specialised nature and restrictions of
public sector assets, the existing use
is presumed to be the highest and
best use (HBU), hence current
replacement cost under AASB 13
Fair Value Measurement is the same
as the depreciated replacement cost
concept under AASB 136.

This Standard defers the mandatory 1 Jan 2019
effective date of AASB 15 for not-for
profit entities from 1 January 2018
to 1 January 2019.

This amending standard will defer the
application period of AASB 15 for notfor-profit entities to the 2019-20
reporting period.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Note 1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(f)

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued)
Standard /
Interpretation

Summary

AASB 2016-8
Amendments to
Australian
Accounting
Standards A ustralian
Implementation
Guidance for Notfor-Profit Entities

This Standard amends AASB 9 and 1 Jan 2019
AASB 15 to include requirements to
assist not-for-profit entities in
applying the respective standards to
particular transactions and events.
The amendments:
-require non-contractual
receivables arising from statutory
requirements (i.e. taxes, rates and
fines) to be initially measured and
recognised in accordance with
AASB 9 as if those receivables are
financial instruments; and
- clarifies circumstances when a
contract with a customer is within
the scope of AASB 15.

Applicable
Impact on Trust's Financial
for reporting Statements
periods
beginning on

AASB 1058 Income This standard replaces AASB 1004 1 Jan 2019
of Not-for-Profit
Contributions and establishes
Entities
revenue recognition principles for
transactions where the
consideration to acquire an asset is
significantly less than fair value to
enable the not-for-profit entity to
further its objectives.

The assessment has indicated that
there will be no significant impact for
the public sector, other than the
impact identified for AASB 9 and
AASB 15 above.

The assessment has indicated that
revenue from capital grants that are
provided under an enforceable
agreement that have sufficiently
specific obligations, will now be
deferred and recognised as
performance obligations are satisifed.
As a result, the timing recognition of
revenue will change.

I n addition to the new standards and amendments above, the AASB has issued a list of other amending
standards that are not effective for the 2016-17 reporting period (as listed below). In general, these amending
standards include editorial and reference changes that are expected to have insignificant impacts on public
sector reporting.
- AASB 2016-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards -Disclosure Initiative; Amendments tc
AASB 107.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 30 June 2017
Note 2 Net Results from Operations

Note

2017
$

2016
$

Revenue
(a) Cemetery Operations Income
I nterment fees
Rights of burial
Cremation fees
Memorial fees
Plaque sales
Monument permit fees
Concrete-lined graves
Government grants
Other income
Gain on disposal of property, plant &equipment
Recoups
Total Revenue
(b) Investment Income
I nvestment income
Total Investment Income

3

1,426,609
1,509,129
1,190,093
997,488
564,070
287,100
73,215
18,091
135,562
52,468
17,416
6,271,241

1,323,281
1,762,547
1,313,209
788,517
457,017
243,310
36,946
70,500
86,399
24,856
17,270
6,123,852

380,960
380,960

351,989
351,989

Revenue is recognised in accordance with AASB118 Revenue to the extent that it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Trust and the revenue can be reliably measured at fair value.
Sale of Investments
The gain/loss on the sale of investments is recognised when the investments are realised.
Donations and Other Bequests
Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue when received.
Fees
Fees received for the rights of interment for graves, cremation memorials and mausoleum crypts are
recognised as revenue at the time of purchase except for the memorialisation portion which is recognised
at the time of interment.
Fees received for interment, cremation and certain memorialisation products such as granite and plaques
are recognised as revenue in the period that the goods or services are provided. Fees received in advance
of service provision are recorded as unearned income as detailed in Note 12.
Interest Revenue
I nterest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield of the
financial asset and allocates the interest over the relevant period.
Resources Provided and Received Free of Charge or for Nominal Consideration
Contributions of resources and resources provided free of charge or for nominal consideration are recognised
at their fair value. Contributions in the form of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably
determined and the services would have been purchased if not donated.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 30 June 2017
Note 2 Net Results from Operations (continued)

Note

2017
$

2016
$

Expenses
(c) Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Salaries and wages on-costs
Total Employee Benefits
(d) Cost of Sales
Cost of goods sold -inventory
Total Cost of Sales
(e) Depreciation
Buildings and improvements
I nfrastructure works
Plant and equipment
Office equipment, furniture and fittings
Total Depreciation

9(b)
9(b)
9(b)
9(b)

(f) Administrative Costs
Administration
Audit fees
Computer costs
I nsurance
Total Administrative Costs

20

(g) Maintenance and Operating Costs
Cemeteries and crematorium
Plant and equipment maintenance
Plaques and mounts
Total Maintenance and Operating Costs
(h) Cemetery Levy

2,796,349
406,802
3,203,151

2,642,606
473,616
3,116,222

119,617
119,617

157,226
157,226

73,444
76,239
279,610
40,565
469,858

71,830
74,928
287,409
48,198
482,365

603,232
14,150
146,532
14,234
778,148

448,371
13,800
128,907
12,213
603,291

711,929
239,246
172,604
1,123,779

830,413
228,932
158,178
1,217,523

197,264

190,157

Expense Recognition
Expenses are recognised as they are incurred and reported in the financial year to which they relate.
(i) Cost of Sales
Costs of sales are recognised when the sale of an item or right of interment occurs by transferring the cost
or value of the item/s or value of land related to the right of interment from inventories.
(ii) Administrative Costs
Administrative costs are recognised in the period to which they relate and includes the operation of the main
Administration Office in Geelong East and a smaller operation based at the Colac Cemetery.
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GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 30 June 2017

Note 2 Net Results from Operations (continued)
Expenses (continued)
(iii) Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated on a reducing balance basis to write off the cost or valuation of each item of
property (excluding land) over their expected useful life to the Trust.
The following table indicates the expected useful lives of non-current assets on which the depreciation
charges are based.
2017
2016
Property infrastructure
Up to 40 years
Up to 40 years
Buildings
The Gatehouse, Eastern Cemetery
Up to 100 years
Up to 100 years
All Other Buildings
Up to 50 years
Up to 50 years
Plant &Equipment
Up to 5 years
Up to 5 years
Furniture &Fittings
Up to 5 years
Up to 5 years
The useful life of assets are assessed annually.
(iv) Cemetery Levy
As outlined in Section 18Q (1) of the Cemeteries and Crematoria Act 2003 (the Act), an annual levy is payable
to the Department of Health and Human Services by each Class A Cemetery Trust based on their gross income
for the financial year. The levy was introduced to assist in defraying the costs of administering the Act, making
i mprovements in cemetery trust governance and administration and the provision of services to the community.
The levy is currently set at 3% of gross income and Geelong Cemeteries Trust has recognised the levy as an
accrued expense in Note 10 -Other Creditors for the amount of $197,264(2016 - $190,157).
(v) Maintenance and Operating Costs
Maintenance and Operating costs generally represent the day-to-day operating costs of each of the cemetery
sites and crematorium administered by the Trust. All costs are expensed in the period they are incurred and
the majority of the expenses relate to maintenance of lawn and monument areas within the nineteen sites.

Note 3 Net Gain on Disposal of Non-Current Assets

Proceeds from sale of assets
Written down value of assets sold

2017
$
153,967
( 101,499)
52,468
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2016
$
153,165
(128,309)
24,856

GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 30 June 2017
Note 4 Cash and Cash Equivalents

2017
$

Cash on hand
Cash at bank
Bank 24-hour Call Account
Term deposits

2016
$

800
220,973
1,951,128
2,295,666

800
140,391
2,622,763
1,251,812

4,468,567

4,015,766

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash at bank, deposits at call and highly liquid investments
with an original maturity of 6 months or less, which are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment purposes, and which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
Note 5

Receivables
Current
Contractual
Trade debtors
Sundry debtors

374,432
122,244

282,713
85,112

Total Current Receivables

496,676

367,825

Contractual
Sundry debtors (see Note 1(d))

26,539

34,309

Total Non-Current Receivables

zb,5sy

34,309

5L3,L75

4UL,'134

Non-Current

Total Receivables

Receivables consist of:
- contractual receivables, which includes mainly debtors in relation to goods and services and accrued
investment income; and
- statutory receivables, which includes GST input tax credits recoverable.
Receivables that are contractual are classified as financial instruments and categorised as receivables.
Statutory receivables are recognised and measured similarly to contractual receivables (except for impairment),
but are not classified as financial instruments because they do not arise from a contract.
Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method, less any accumulated impairment.
Bad and doubtful debts are assessed on a regular basis. Those bad debts considered as written off are
classified as an expense.
Trade debtors are carried at nominal amounts due, and are due for settlement within 30 days from the date of
recognition. Collectability of debts is reviewed on an ongoing basis and debts which are known to be
uncollectable are written off. A provision for doubtful debts is recognised when there is objective evidence that
the debts may not be collected and bad debts are written off when identified.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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Note 6

Inventories

2017
$

2016
$

Current
Finished Goods
ROI -Graves
Concrete-lined graves
Mausoleum Crypts

27,510
14,000
12,500

14,960
10,800
50,530

Total Current Inventories

54,010

76,290

1,034,509
1,034,509

1,051,709
1,051,709

448,305
34,443
216,516
699,264

378,827
59,703
189,635
628,165

Total Non-Current Inventories

1,733,773

1,679,874

Total Inventories

1,787,783

1,756,164

Non-Current
Work in Progress/Undeveloped
I nventory -Undeveloped Land
Finished Goods
ROI -Graves
Concrete-lined graves
Mausoleum Crypts

I nventories expected to be sold/utilised within 12 months are recorded as current, with the balance recorded as
non-current assets.
Right of Interment
I nventories -Right of Interment are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned
to graves and memorial positions (under development and developed) on a specific identification of cost basis,
with the costs of development and construction averaged over the number of graves or memorial positions in
the construction.
Land Allocated for Interment Purposes
I nventories include land allocated for interment purposes held for sale. Inventory of land allocated for interment
purposes is measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value on the basis of weighted average cost and
includes adjacent land and landscaping that add to the amenity of the land for interment.

Note 7

Other Current Assets
Prepayments

1,240
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Note 8

Other Financial Assets
Fixed Term Deposits at cost
Managed Funds at fair value

2017
$
3,200,000
2,818,706

2016
$
4,200,000
1,116,370

Total Other Financial Assets

6.018.706

5.316.370

Balance at beginning of reporting period

5,316,370

3,777,400

Additions
Disposals
Net gain/(loss) from fair value adjustments

1,619,459
( 1,000,000)
82,877

2,097,065
(539,000)
(19,095)

6,018,706

5,316,370

Balance at end of reporting period

Managed funds are valued monthly by BT Securities based on market earnings of the investment and reported
on their website with their current value.
Other financial assets are recognised and derecognised on trade date where purchase or sale of an investment
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the
market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.
Geelong Cemeteries Trust classifies its other financial assets between current and non-current assets based
on the purpose for which the assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its other
financial assets at initial recognition.
Geelong Cemeteries Trust assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial asset or group of financial
assets is impaired. All financial assets are subject to annual review for impairment.
Financial Assets have been assessed for impairment in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.
W here the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument at balance date has reduced by 20% or more
than its cost price; or where its fair value has been less than its cost price for a period of 12 or more months,
the financial instrument is treated as impaired.
I n order to determine an appropriate fair value as at 30 June 2017 for its portfolio of financial assets, the
Geelong Cemeteries Trust prepared a valuation based on the market value of the investments as at 30 June
2017.
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Note 9

Property, Plant and Equipment

2017
$

2016
$

(a) Gross Carrying Amount and Accumulated Depreciation
Land -Infrastructure
Land at valuation
Total Land -Infrastructure

605,941
605,941

I nfrastructure Works
I nfrastructure works at valuation
less Accumulated depreciation

8,601,000
(3,552,000)
5,049,000

I nfrastructure works at fair value
less Accumulated depreciation

-

Total Infrastructure Works
Buildings and Improvements
Buildings and improvements at valuation
less Accumulated depreciation

Buildings and improvements at fair value
less Accumulated depreciation

Works-in-Progress -Buildings at fair value
Total Buildings and Improvements
Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment at fair value
less Accumulated depreciation

Office Equipment, Furniture and Fittings
Office equipment, furniture and fittings at fair value
less Accumulated depreciation

Total Plant and Equipment
Total Property, Plant and Equipment
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528,704
528,704

4,077,300
(1,593,638)
2,483,662
514,094
(30,246)
483,848

5,049,000

2,967,510

9,916,725
(2,281,725)
7,635,000

4,571,400
(1,270,541)
3,300,859

25,588
(256)
25,332

1,016,608
(65,887)
950,721

42,889
7,703,221

37,889
4,289,469

3,298,679
(2,107,577)
1,191,102

3,200,812
(2,069,413)
1,131,399

516,979
(354,407)
162,572

513,631
(313,842)
199,789

1,353,674

1,331,188

14,711,836

9,116,871

GEELONG CEMETERIES TRUST
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 30 June 2017
Note 9

Property, Plant and Equipment(continued)

Recognition and Valuation of Non-Current Physical Assets
The capitalisation threshold for the recognition of all non-current physical assets is $3,000(2016 - $3,000).
Non-current physical assets measured at fair value are revalued in accordance with FRD 103F. This revaluation
process normally occurs every 5 years, based on the asset's Government Purpose Classification, but may
occur more frequently if fair value assessments indicate material changes in value. Revaluation increments and
decrements arise from differences between an asset's carrying value and fair value.
Revaluation increments are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the property, plant
& equipment revaluation surplus reserve, except that, to the extent that an increment reverses a revaluation
decrement in respect of that class of asset previously recognised as an expense in the net result, the
i ncrement is recognised as income in determining the net result.
Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as an expense in the net result, except that, to the extent
that a credit balance exists in the asset revaluation surplus reserve in respect of the same class of asset, they
are debited directly to the asset revaluation surplus reserve.
Revaluation increases and revaluation decreases relating to individual assets within an asset class are offset
against one another within that class, but are not offset in respect of assets in different classes. Revaluation
surplus reserves are not transferred to accumulated funds on derecognition of the relevant asset.
Land -Cemetery Use
Crown land controlled by the Geelong Cemeteries Trust, which has been reserved for cemetery and crematoria
purposes, is measured at fair value with regard to the land's highest and best use (HBU) after due consideration
is made of any legal and/or constructive restrictions imposed on the land. These restrictions, whereby the land
has been reserved for a cemetery, have been assessed by the Valuer-General of Victoria (VGV) as reducing
the land's highest and best use value by a discount factor of 95%. The discount of 95% represents the
community service obligation (CSO) of providing the cemetery to the Victorian public.
Cemetery use land was valued as at 30 June 2017 by Mr. R.L. Baird, Certified Practicing Valuer, in accordance
with the requirements of the applicable Financial Reporting Direction (currently FRD 103F Nnn-current Physical
Assets), issued pursuant to the Financial Management Act. The next scheduled revaluation under FRD 103E
is set for 30 June 2022, or earlier if there is an indication that fair values have moved materially since the last
valuation. The valuation has been prepared in accordance with the policy detailed above.
2017
The calculation of the value of land for cemetery use is:
Land at HBU (unrestricted) value
less CSO (discount of 95%)
Total Land at Valuation -Cemetery Use

12,118,820
1 1,512,879
605,941

2016

10,574,080
10,045,376
528,704

Valuation of buildings and improvements and infrastructure works was also undertaken, effective 30 June 2017,
based on the opinion of Mr. R. L. Baird, Certified Practising Valuer, as agent of the Valuer-General of Victoria
to represent the "fair value" of the replacement cost of the remaining economic value of those assets.
Property, Plant and Equipment
All non-current physical assets are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less
accumulated depreciation and impairment. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is its
fair value at the date of acquisition. Assets transferred as part of a merger/machinery of Government change
are transferred at their carrying amount.
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Note 9

Property, Plant and Equipment(continued)

Recognition and Valuation of Non-Current Physical Assets(continued)
Plant, equipment and vehicles are recognised initially at cost and subsequently measured at fair value less
accumulated depreciation and impairment. Depreciated historical cost is generally a reasonable proxy for
depreciated replacement cost because of the short lives of the assets concerned. Unless there is market
evidence that current replacement costs are significantly different from the original acquisition cost, it is
considered unlikely that depreciated replacement cost will be materially different from the existing carrying
values.
Buildings and improvements are recognised initially at cost and subsequently measured at fair value less
accumulated depreciation and impairment.
I mpairment of Non-Financial Assets
All Property, Plant &Equipment are assessed annually for indications of impairment and if there is an
indication of impairment, the asset concerned is tested as to whether its carrying value exceeds its possible
recoverable amount. Where an assets carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount, the difference is
written-off as an expense except to the extent that the write-down can be debited to an asset revaluation
surplus reserve applicable to that same class of asset.
If there is an indication that there has been a change in the estimate of an asset's recoverable amount since
the last impairment loss was recognised, the carrying amount shall be increased to its recoverable amount.
This reversal of the impairment loss occurs only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recognised in prior years.
It is deemed that, in the event of the loss of an asset, the future economic benefits arising from the use of the
asset will be replaced unless a specific decision to the contrary has been made. The recoverable amount for
most assets is measured at the higher of depreciated replacement cost and fair value less costs to sell.
Recoverable amount for assets held primarily to generate net cash inflows is measured at the higher of the
present value of future cash flows expected to be obtained from the asset and fair value less costs to sell.
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Depreciation -Note 2(e)

m
A

-

Disposals

Depreciation -Note 2(e)
528,704

-

Transfers to completed assets

Carrying amount at end of year

-

528,704

$

605,941

77,237

-

-

-

528,704

Additions/Transfers

Carrying amount at start of the year

2016

Carrying amount at end of year

Revaluation increments/(decrements)

Disposals

~

Additions/Transfers

Carrying amount at start of the year

2017

2,967,510

(74,928)

-

-

90,649

2,951,789

$

5,049,000

1,993,434

(76,239)

-

164,295

2,967,510

4,251,580

(71,830)

-

31,644

29,662

4,262,104

$

7,660,332

3,252,506

(73,444)

-

229,690

4,251,580

Land - Infrastructure Buildings and
Infrastructure
Works Improvements
$
$
$

1,131,399

(287,409)

(128,309)

-

368,791

1,178,326

$

1,191,102

-

(279,610)

(101,499)

440,812

1,131,399

-

-

63,634

184,353

199,789

(48,198)

$

162,572

-

(40,565)

-

3,348

199,789

37,889

31,644

37,889

-

-

(31,644)

$

42,889

-

-

-

5,000

37,889

Plant and
Office Equipment, Works-in-Progress
Equipment Furniture 8~ Fittings
Buildings
$
$
$

9,116,871

(482,365)

(128,309)

-

590,625

9,136,920

$

14,711,836

5,323,177

(469,858)

(101,499)

843,145

9,116,871

Total
$

Reconciliations of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial years are set out below.

(b) Reconciliation of Property, Plant and Equipment

Note 9 Property, Plant and Equipment(continued)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 30 June 2017
Note 9 Property, Plant and Equipment(continued)
Note 9 (c) Aggregate Depreciation Recognised as an Expense During the Year"
2017
$

2016
$

Buildings and Improvements
I nfrastructure Works
Plant and Equipment
Office Equipment, Furniture and Fittings

73,444
76,239
279,610
40,565

71,830
74,928
287,409
48,198

Total Depreciation

469,858

482,365

`The useful lives of Assets as stated in Note 2(iii) are used in the calculation of depreciation
Note 9 (d) Fair Value Measurement Hierarchy for Assets as at 30 June 2017
Carrying
Amount
as at
30 June 2017
$

Fair value measurement at end of
reporting period using:
Level 1 *
$

Level 2 *
$

Level 3"
$

Land - Infrastructure at fair value

605,941

-

-

605,941

I nfrastructure Works at fair value

5,049,000

-

-

5,049,000

Buildings and Improvements at fair value

7,703,221

-

-

7,703,221

Plant and Equipment at fair value
- Vehicles (i)
- Other Plant and Equipment

1,017,009
174,093

-

-

1,017,009
174,093

162,572

-

-

162,572

14,711,836

-

-

14,711,836

Office Equipment, Furniture and Fittings at
fair value

Carrying
Amount
as at
30 June 2016
$

Fair value measurement at end of
reporting period using:
Level 1 "
$

Level 2 *
$

Level 3"
$

Land - Infrastructure at fair value

528,704

-

-

528,704

I nfrastructure Works at fair value

2,967,510

-

-

2,967,510

Buildings and Improvements at fair value

4,289,469

-

-

4,289,469

Plant and Equipment at fair value
- Vehicles (i)
- Other Plant and Equipment

943,363
188,036

-

-

943,363
188,036

Office Equipment, Furniture and Fittings at
fair value

199,789

-

-

199,789

9,116,871

-

-

9,116,871
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Note 9 Property, Plant and Equipment(continued)
Note 9 (d) Fair Value Measurement Hierarchy for Assets as at 30 June 2017(continued)
(i) Vehicles are categorised as Level 3 assets as the depreciated replacement cost is used in
estimating the fair value.
There have been no transfers between levels during the period.
The Trust acquires new vehicles and at times disposes of them before completion of their economic
life. The process of acquisition, use and disposal in the market is managed by the Trust who set
relevant depreciation rates during use to reflect the consumption of the vehicles. As a result, the fair
value of vehicles does not differ materially from the carrying value (depreciated cost).
Plant and Equipment is held at carrying value (depreciated cost). When plant and equipment is
specialised in use, such that it is rarely sold other than as part of a going concern, the depreciated
replacement cost is used to estimate the fair value. Unless there is market evidence that current
replacement costs are significantly different from the original acquisition cost, it is considered unlikely
that depreciated replacement cost will be materially different from the existing carrying value.
There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2017.
For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best use.
Note 9 (e) Reconciliation of Level 3 Fair Value "

2017

Office
Equipment,
Land Infrastructure Buildings and Plant and
Furniture
infrastructure Works at fair Improvements Equipment and Fittings
at fair value
value
at fair value at fair value at fair value
$
$
$
$
$

Works in
Progress
Buildings
$

Opening Balance

528,704

2,967,510

4,251,580

1,131,399

199,789

37,889

Purchases (Sales)

-

164,295

229,690

339,313

3,348

5,000

Revaluation Increment

77,237

1,993,434

3,252,506

-

-

-

Gains or losses
recognised in net result
- Depreciation

-

Transfers in (out) of
Level 3

Subtotal

(76,239)

(73,444) (279,610)

77,237

2,081,490

3,408,752

59,703

605,941

5,049,000

7,660,332

1,191,102

(40,565)

-

(37,217)

5,000

Items recognised in
income
- Transfers from
Other Trusts
Su btota 1
Closing Balance

Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy as detailed in Note 1
There have been no transfers between levels during the period.
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Note 9 Property, Plant and Equipment(continued)
Note 9 (f) Description of Significant Unobservable Inputs to Level 3 Valuations

Valuation technique

Si nificant unobservable inputs

Market approach

Community Service Obligation (CSO)
adjustments

I nfrastructure

Depreciated replacement
cost

Useful life of infrastructure

Buildings and Improvements

Depreciated replacement
cost

Useful life of the building

Plant and Equipment

Depreciated replacement
cost

Useful life of plant and equipment

Vehicles

Depreciated replacement
cost

Useful life of vehicles

Office Equipment, Furniture and
Fittings

Depreciated replacement
cost

Useful life of office equipment,
furniture and fittings

Land -Infrastructure
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Note 10 Payables
Current
Contractual
Trade creditors
Other creditors
Statutory
GST payable

2017
$

2016
$

274,873
285,936

133,786
291,465

28,644

59,961

589,453

485,212

Payables consist of:
- contractual payables which consist predominantly of accounts payable representing liabilities for goods
and services provided to the cemetery trust prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid, and arise
when the cemetery trust becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of those
goods and services; and
- statutory payables, such as goods and services tax and fringe benefits tax payables.
The credit terms for accounts payable are usually Net 30 days.
Contractual payables are classified as financial instruments and are initially recognised at fair value, and then
subsequently carried at amortised cost. Statutory payables are recognised and measured similarly to
contractual payables, but are not classified as financial instruments and not included in the category of
financial liabilities at amortised cost, because they do not arise from a contract.

Note 11 Provisions
(a) Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs Provisions
Current Provisions
Employee Benefits (including on-costs)
- Annual Leave (unconditional and expected to be settled
within 12 months)
- Annual Leave (unconditional and expected to be settled
after 12 months)
- Long Service Leave -unconditional and expected to be settled
within 12 months
- Long Service Leave -unconditional and expected to be settled
after 12 months

177,179

169,551

37,362

46,398

43,746

15,242

378,245

405,062

Total Current Provisions

636,532

636,253

Non-Current Provisions
- Long Service Leave - (conditional and expected to be settled
after 12 months)

123,370

116,829

Total Non-Current Provisions

1 23,370

116,829

Total Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs

759,902

753,082
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Note 11 Provisions (continued)

2017
$

2016
$

(a) Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs Provisions(continued)
Movement in Long Service Leave:
Balance at start of year
Provision made during the year
- Revaluations
- Expense recognising employee service
Settlement made during the year

537,133

484,189

26,289
24,411
(42,472)

36,510
45,746
(29,312)

Balance at the end of the year

545,361

537,133

215,949

220,226

197,063
(198,471)

195,035
(199,312)

214,541

215,949

Movement in Annual Leave:
Balance at start of year
Provision made during the year
- Expense recognising employee service
Annual leave taken
Balance at the end of the year

Provisions are recognised when either a legal or constructive obligation exists, as a result of a past event, at
the balance sheet date and where the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated.
Wages and Salaries and Annual Leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave are recognised in the
provision for employee benefits as "Current Liabilities", because the Trust does not have an unconditional
right to defer settlement of these liabilities.
Depending on the expectation of the timing of settlement, liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave
are measured at:
(i) Undiscounted value - if the Trust expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or
(ii) Present value - if the Trust does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.
Long Service Leave (LSL)
Liability for LSL is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.
U nconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a current liability, even where the
Trust does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months because it will not have the unconditional right
to defer the settlement of the entitlement should an employee take leave within 12 months.
The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:
(i) Undiscounted value - if the Trust expects to wholly settle within 12 months; and
(ii) Present value - if the Trust does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.
Conditional LSL is disclosed as anon-current liability because there is an unconditional right to defer the
settlement of the entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. This non-current
liability is measured at Present Value.
Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as a
transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond interest rates for which it
is then recognised as an other economic flow.
On-Costs
Employee benefit on-costs (workers compensation and superannuation) are included within the provision for
employee benefits.
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Note 11 Provisions (continued)

2017
$

2016
$

Current Provisions
Loss on pre-paid fees

412,656

312,301

Total Other Provisions

412,656

312,301

1,172,558

1,065,383

(b) Other Provisions

Total Provisions

A provision is recognised in relation to pre-paid fees where the cost of providing the purchased goods and
services is expected to be greater than the amount received/revenue to be recognised. The provision represents
the present value of the expenditure required to provide the goods and services, less the amount of revenue to
be recognised.
Note 12 Unearned Income
Amounts expected to be settled within 12 months
of the reporting date
Amounts expected to be settled after 12 months
from the reporting date

4,686,677

4,162,510

332,569

325,557

4,354,108

3,836,953

4,titiEi,ti/ /

4,'I bl,b'I U

Cremation and interment fees received in advance of the relevant service being provided are carried forward as a
liability and not brought into account as revenue until the year in which each individual service is provided by the
Trust. All prepaid fees are shown as a current liability as the Trust does not have an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date. Details above identify the amount
of the liability that is expected to be converted to revenue in the next year, based on past experience.
Note 13 Equity
(a) Contributed Capital
Balance at beginning of the reporting period
Balance at end of the reporting period

~ oa2 aan

~ oar sao

i,u~c,u4u

i,u~~,u4u

Consistent with Australian Accounting Interpretation 1038 "Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned
Public Sector Entities" and FRD 119A "Contributions by Owners", appropriations for additions to the net asset
base have been designated as contributed capital. Other transfers that are in the nature of contributions or
distributions that have been designated as contributed capital are treated as contributed capital.
(b) Accumulated Surplus
Balance at beginning of the reporting period
Net result for the reporting period
Transfer from / (to) Other Reserves
Balance at end of the reporting period

937,495
760,384
( 369,500)
1,328,379

808,938
709,057
( 580,500)
937,495

(c) Reserves
Property, Plant &Equipment Revaluation Surplus
Available for Sale Investments Revaluation Surplus
Other Reserves
Total Reserves
Total Equity

7,143,601
102,182
5,395,657
12,641,440

1,820,424
19,305
5,026,157
6,865,886
~L'l~Fl•~~~~
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Note 13 Equity (continued)

2017
$

2016
$

(c) Reserves (continued)
Property, Plant &Equipment Revaluation Surplus
The property, plant &equipment revaluation surplus reserve is used to record increments and
decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets, as detailed in Note 9.
Buildings and Improvements
Balance at beginning of the reporting period
Net revaluation increment/(decrement) during the reporting period
Balance at end of the reporting period

1,398,514
3,252,506
4,651,020

1,398,514
1,398,514

Land
Balance at beginning of the reporting period
Net revaluation increment/(decrement) during the reporting period
Balance at end of the reporting period

77,237
77,237

-

Infrastructure -Roads
Balance at beginning of the reporting period
Net revaluation incremenU(decrement) during the reporting period
Balance at end of the reporting period

119,396
738,168
857,564

119,396
119,396

Infrastructure -Other than Roads
Balance at beginning of the reporting period
Net revaluation incremenU(decrement) during the reporting period
Balance at end of the reporting period

302,514
1,255,266
1,557,780

302,514
302,514

Available for Sale Investments Revaluation Surplus
The available for sale investments revaluation surplus reserve is used to record increments and decrements
associated with the valuation of long term investments, carried out at the end of each reporting period.
The available-for-sale investment revaluation surplus arises on the revaluation of available-for-sale financial
assets. Where a revalued financial asset is sold, that portion of the reserve which relates to that financial
asset is recognised in the comprehensive operating statement. Where a revalued financial asset is impaired,
that portion of the reserve which relates to that financial asset is recognised as an expense.
Available for Sale Investments Revaluation Surplus
Balance at beginning of the reporting period
Net revaluation gain/(loss) during the reporting period
Balance at end of the reporting period

19,305
82,877
102,182

38,400
(19,095)
19,305

Other Reserves
Future Maintenance of Cemeteries Reserve
The future maintenance of cemeteries reserve is used to provide funds for the perpetual maintenance
requirements of the Trust for each of the sites administered by the Trust. An annual allocation is provided in the
approved budget and is determined using estimated numbers of sales of rights of interments and interments.
Details of the obligations of the Trust are provided in Note 17 Contingent Liabilities.
Future Maintenance of Cemeteries Reserve
Balance at beginning of the reporting period
Transfer from Accumulated Surplus
Balance at end of the reporting period
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Note 13 Equity (continued)

2017
$

2016
$

(c) Reserves (continued)
Plant 8 Equipment Replacement Reserve
The plant &equipment replacement reserve has been created to provide funds for the replacement of the
cremators at the Crematorium. An allocation is made from each cremation carried out during the reporting
period and this is reviewed by the Trust each year at the time of the Budget preparation. The allocation has
been determine using current numbers of cremations, existing costs of replacement of each cremator and
current charges for cremations.
Plant &Equipment Replacement Reserve
Balance at beginning of the reporting period
Transfer from Accumulated Surplus
Transfer (to) Accumulated Surplus
Balance at end of the reporting period

897,800
100,000
(105,500)
892,300

692,300
205,500
897,800

Note 14 Notes to the Cash Flow Statement
Note
(a) Reconciliation of Cash
For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash includes
cash on hand and in banks and investments in money market
i nstruments. Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in
the Cash Flow Statement is reconciled to the related items in
the balance sheet as follows:
Cash on hand
Cash at bank
Bank 24-hour Call Account
Term deposits

4
4
4
4

Total Cash as per Cash Flow Statement

800
220,973
1,951,128
2,295,666

800
140,391
2,622,763
1,251,812

4,468,567

4,015,766

760,384

709,057

469,858
(52,468)

482,365
(24,856)

(121,081)
(31,619)
781
104,241
107,175
524,167

(159,560)
51,195
980
63,061
103,967
414,446

1,761,438

1,640,655

(b) Reconciliation of net result for the year to net cash
inflows from operating activities
Net result for the year
Non-Cash Movements
Depreciation
(Net Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Changes in net assets and liabilities:
(Increase)1Decrease in Receivables
(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories
(Increase)/Decrease in Prepayments
I ncrease/(Decrease) in Payables
I ncrease/(Decrease) in Provisions
I ncrease/(Decrease) in Unearned Income
Net cash inflows from operating activities
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Note 15 Commitments for Expenditure

2017
$

2016
$

Capital Commitments
Nil projects

These Commitments are due:
Not longer than 1 Year
1 - 5 Years
Longer than 5 Years

Note 16 Contingent Assets
There are no known contingent assets at 30 June 2017.(2016: $nil)

Note 17 Contingent Liabilities
Perpetual Maintenance
The Trust has an obligation under the Cemeteries and Crematoria Act 2003 to manage and maintain
each public cemetery for which it is responsible. As stated in Section 12 of the Act, in exercising its
functions the Trust must have regard to its obligation in relation to the funding of the perpetual
maintenance of each public cemetery. At this time the Trust is aware that there will be ongoing
significant cash outflow for perpetual maintenance of each public cemetery but is unable to calculate
a sufficiently reliable estimate of any related present obligation which may arise under the accounting
standards and accordingly has not recognised a value for this obligation in these financial statements.
The Trust has nevertheless created a related reserve, which is now fully cash backed and is disclosed
as a Future Maintenance of Cemeteries Reserve in Note 13.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet, but are disclosed byway
of notes above and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value.
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Note 18 Financial Instruments
(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
The cemetery trust's principal financial instruments comprise of:
- Cash Assets
- Receivables (excluding statutory receivables)
- Available for Sale Investments
- Payables (excluding statutory payables)
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition,
the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, with respect
to each class of financial asset and financial liability are disclosed in this Note.
The cemetery trust's main financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and equity
price risk. The Trust manages these financial risks in accordance with its financial risk management
policy.
The Trust uses different methods to measure and manage the different risks to which it is exposed.
Primary responsibility for the identification and management of financial risks rests with the Audit &
Risk Committee of the Trust and is mitigated by compliance with the Trust's Investment Policy.
The main purpose in holding financial instruments is to prudentially manage cemetery trust financial
risk within the government policy parameters.
Categorisation of Financial Instruments

Note Category
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Receivables
Other Financial Assets

4
5
8

Cash
Receivables (at Amortised Cost)
Available-for-Sale Investments (at
Fair Value Through Equity)

Total Financial Assets
Financial Liabilities
Payables
U nearned Income

2017
$

2016
$

4,468,567
523,215

4,015,766
402,134

6,018,706
11,010,488

5,316,370
9,734,270

560,809

425,251

4,686,677

4,162,510

5,247,486

4,587,761

10

Financial Liabilities (at Amortised
Cost)
12 Financial Liabilities (at Amortised
Cost)

Total Financial Liabilities

Net holding gain/(loss) on financial instruments by category
2017
$
Financial Assets
Available-for-Sale at Fair Value through Equity
Total Financial Assets
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82,877
82,877

2016
$
(19,095)
(19,095)
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Note 18 Financial Instruments (continued)
Net holding gain/(loss) on financial instruments by category (continued)
For Available-for-Sale financial assets, the net gain or loss is calculated by taking the interest revenue,
plus or minus market gains or losses from revaluation of the financial assets, and minus any impairment
recognised in the net result.
Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments includes realised and unrealised gains and losses from
revaluations of financial instruments that are designated at fair value through profit or loss or
held-for-trading, impairment and reversal of impairment for financial instruments at amortised cost,
and disposals of financial assets.
The revaluation gain/(loss) on financial instruments at fair value excludes dividends or interest earned on
financial assets.
(b) Credit Risk
Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Geelong Cemeteries Trust, which comprise cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and available for sale investments. The exposure to credit
risk arises from the potential default of a counter party on their contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the Geelong Cemeteries Trust. Credit risk is measured at fair value and is monitored
on a regular basis.
Provision of impairment for financial assets is calculated based on past experience, and current and
expected changes in client credit ratings.
(i) Policy in Managing Credit Risk
Geelong Cemeteries Trust does not have any material credit risk exposure to a single debtor or group
of debtors. In respect to trade and sundry receivables, Geelong Cemeteries Trust minimises
concentrations of credit risk by undertaking transactions with a limited numbers of clients, all with a
good credit rating based on past transactions with the Trust. Trade debtors are normally paid within 30
days of end of month. Sundry debtor terms are also 30 days from end of month.
I n addition, management reviews on an ongoing basis the age analysis of receivables to assess the
q uality of them and apply any action required to ensure the collectability of the debt. According to
successful past experience in managing the credit risk on receivables, Geelong Cemeteries Trust has
assessed this risk as low.
Management has assessed the credit risk associated with the cash and cash equivalents as minimal.
The amounts are allocated to reputable financial institutions which have a high credit rating.
I nvestments are managed in accordance with our investment policy, which stipulates, where applicable,
minimum credit ratings. The Trust also ensures investments are placed with a number of financial
i nstitutions to mitigate any credit risk. The investment policy is reviewed regularly by the Trust.
Geelong Cemeteries Trust manages all investments allocated as available for sale financial assets.
The total funds invested are diversified across a range of reputable and experienced financial
i nstitutions and only in capital guaranteed or capital protected investment products. This mitigates the
credit risk on this class of financial assets.
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Note 18 Financial Instruments (continued)
(b) Credit Risk (continued)
(ii) Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk
The Trust's maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in relation
represented below:
2017
Financial Assets
$
Cash and Cash Equivalents
4,468,567
Receivables
523,215
Available for Sale Investments
6,018,706
Total
11,010,488

to each class of financial asset is
2016
$
4,015,766
402,134
5,316,370
9,734,270

Currently Geelong Cemeteries Trust does not hold any collateral as security nor credit enhancements
relating to any of its financial assets.
(iii) Credit Quality of Contractual Financial Assets that are neither past due nor impaired.

2017
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalent
Receivables
I nvestments

Financial Government Government
Other
Institutions Agencies
Agencies (min. BBB
(AAA Credit (AAA Credit (BBB Credit
Credit
Rating)
Rating)
Rating)
Rating)
$
$
$
$
-

Total Financial Assets
2016
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalent
Receivables
I nvestments

-

Total Financial Assets
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Total
$

-

-

4,468,567
523,215
6,018,706

4,468,567
523,215
6,018,706

-

- 11,010,488

11,010,488

-

-

4,015,766
402,134
5,316,370

4,015,766
402,134
5,316,370

-

-

9,734,270

9,734,270
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Note 18 Financial Instruments (continued)
(b) Credit Risk (continued)
(iv) Ageing Analysis of Financial Assets as at 30 June

Carrying
Amount
$

Not past
due and
not
impaired
$

4,468,567
523,215
6,018,706

4,468,567
523,215
6,018,706

-

-

11,010,488

11,010,488

-

-

2016
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalent
Receivables
Investments

4,015,766
402,134
5,316,370

4,015,766
402,134
5,316,370

-

-

Total Financial Assets

9,734,270

9,734,270

-

2017
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalent
Receivables
Investments
Total Financial Assets

Impaired
Financial
Assets
$

Past due but not impaired
Less than
1 -3
Over 3
1 month
months
months
$
$
$

-

-

-

-

Contractual financial assets that are either past due or impaired
There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired. Currently the Trust
does not hold any collateral as security nor credit enhancements relating to its financial assets.
There are no financial assets that have had their terms renegotiated so as to prevent them from being past
d ue or impaired, and they are stated at their carrying amounts as indicated. The ageing analysis table
above discloses the ageing only of contractual financial assets that are past due but not impaired.
(c) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk arises when Geelong Cemeteries Trust is unable to meet obligations associated with
financial liabilities when they fall due.
(i) Policy in Managing Liquidity Risk
Geelong Cemeteries Trust objectives in managing liquidity risk is to ensure that all obligations will be met
as they fall due, while ensuring maximum funds are available for investment to meet longer term perpetual
maintenance requirements.
Geelong Cemeteries Trust manages liquidity risk by monitoring cash flows to ensure sufficient funds are
maintained in the transactional bank accounts to meet liabilities as they fall due. This is done while
ensuring that surplus funds are transferred for investment. Daily monitoring occurs, with monthly reports
presented to the Trust regarding the cash flow position and cash flow forecasts. Geelong Cemeteries Trust
believes that this policy ensures sufficient funds are held to allow for the proper administration of the
cemetery.
Geelong Cemeteries Trust has assessed this risk as minimal considering the positive current position of
current assets compared against current liabilities.
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Note 18 Financial Instruments (continued)
(c) Liquidity Risk (continued)
(ii) Maximum Exposure to Liquidity Risk
The maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as follows:
2017
$

Financial Liabilities

2016
$

Payables
Unearned Income

560,809
4,686,677

425,251
4,162,510

Total

5,247,486

4,587,761

(iii) Maturity Analysis of Financial Liabilities as at 30 June
The following table discloses the contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities at the respective
reporting dates:

Carrying
Amount
$
2017
Financial Liabilities
Payables

Nominal
Amount
$

Less than
1 month
$

Maturi
1 -3
months
$

Dates
3 months
- 1 Year
$

Over
1 Year
$

560,809

560,809

560,809

-

-

-

U nearned Income

4,686,677

4,686,677

27,714

55,428

249,427

4,354,108

Total Financial Liabilities

5,247,486

5,247,486

588,523

55,428

249,427

4,354,108

425,251

425,251

425,251

-

-

-

U nearned Income

4,162,510

4,162,510

27,130

54,260

244,167

3,836,953

Total Financial Liabilities

4,587,761

4,587,761

452,381

54,260

244,167

3,836,953

2016
Financial Liabilities
Payables

The amounts disclosed above are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial
liabilities.
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Note 18 Financial Instruments (continued)
(d) Market Risk Exposure
Geelong Cemeteries Trust has diversified investments across a range of investments, including investments
in the Australian and International share market, in order to fund pre-paid fees and long-term perpetual
maintenance obligations. These markets are subject to volatility. It is accepted that the share market is
cyclical and that there is inherent volatility.
Investments are managed in accordance with our investment policy, which stipulates, asset allocation
ranges to diversify and mitigate risk. The investment policy is reviewed regularly by the Trust. The Trust
manages its own investment portfolio. The performance of investments is monitored and reported to the
Trust monthly.
Geelong Cemeteries Trusts exposure to market risk is through currency risk, interest rate risk, and other
price related risks. Objectives, policies and processes used to manage each of these risks are disclosed
as follows:
(i) Currency Risk and Policy in Managing Currency Risk
The Geelong Cemeteries Trust is exposed to insignificant foreign currency risk through its payables relating
to purchases of supplies and consumables from overseas. This is because of a limited amount of purchases
denominated in foreign currencies.
(ii) Interest Rate Risk and Policy in Managing Interest Risk
Financial Liabilities
Exposure to interest rate risk is minimal as Geelong Cemeteries Trust does not hold interest bearing
liabilities.
A vailable for Sale Investments
The objective of managing interest rate risk is to minimise and control the risks of losses due to interest
rate changes and to take advantage of potential profits.
I nterest risk is managed by diversifying investment in a range of securities including investments with fixed
interest rates, floating interest rates and market based placements.
(iii) Other Market Risk and Policy in Managing Other Market Risk
Exposure to other price risk arises due to inherent risk associated with the possibility of a fall in the market
value of Available for Sale Financial Assets.
Geelong Cemeteries Trusts objective of managing other price (primarily equity market) risk is to minimise
negative impacts on investment value due to the volatility of the stock markets.
Geelong Cemeteries Trust manages all investments and through the current diversification, together with the
required capital guarantee and/or capital protection, minimises the risk associated with these investments.
All investments are placed as per the investment policy of the Trust, which is reviewed on a regular basis.
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Note 18 Financial Instruments (continued)
(d) Market Risk Exposure (continued)
Interest Rate Exposure of Financial Assets and Liabilities as at 30 June

2017

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalent
Receivables
I nvestments

eig e
average
effective
interest
rate %

Carrying
Amount
$

Interest Rate Exposure
Fixed
Variable
Non
interest
interest
interest
rate
bearing
rate
$
$
$

2.24%
N/A
4.35%

4,468,567
523,215
6,018,706

3,542,121
3,200,000

926,446
2,818,706

523,215
-

11,010,488

6,742,121

3,745,152

523,215

Total Financial Assets

Financial Liabilities
Payables

N/A

560,809

-

-

560,809

U nearned Income

N/A

4,686,677

-

-

4,686,677

5,247,486

-

Total Financial Liabilities

2076

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalent
Receivables
I nvestments

5,247,486

eig e
average
effective
interest
rate %

Carrying
Amount
$

Interest Rate Exposure
Fixed
Variable
Non
interest
interest
interest
rate
bearing
rate
$
$
$

2.61%
N/A
4.48%

4,015,766
402,134
5,316,370

3,273,440
4,200,000

742,326
1,116,370

402,134
-

9,734,270

7,473,440

1,858,696

402,134

Total Financial Assets

Financial Liabilities
Payables

N/A

425,251

-

-

425,251

U nearned Income

N/A

4,162,510

-

-

4,162,510

4,587,761

-

-

4,587,761

Total Financial Liabilities
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Note 18 Financial Instruments (continued)
(d) Market Risk Exposure (continued)
(iv) Sensitivity Analysis on Other Price Risk
Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management's
k nowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Trust believes the following movements are
reasonably possible in the forthcoming 12 months. This sensitivity analysis has been prepared for the
next 12 months. The Trust does not believe that it is possible to reasonably estimate the variables
used further than for 12 months.
- A shift of -0.5% and +0.5% in market interest rates from year-end rates of 2.5%.
Geelong Cemeteries Trust manages all investments as per the current policies, requiring investments
to be either capital guaranteed or capital protected and diversified across a number of investment options
ranging from three months through to ten years.
The following tables disclose the impact on net operating result and equity for each category of financial
i nstrument held by Geelong Cemeteries Trust at year end as presented to the Trust, if changes in the
relevant risk occur.

2017

Carrying
Amount
$

Interest Rate Risk
-0.5%
0.5%
Net Result
Equity
Net Result
Equity
$
$
$
$

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
I nvestments

4,468,567
523,215
6,018,706

(22,343)
(30,094)

(22,343)
(30,094)

22,343
30,094

22,343
30,094

Financial liabilities
Payables
Unearned Income

560,809
4,686,677

(23,433)

(23,433)

23,433

23,433

( 75,870)

(75,870)

75,870

75,870

Tota I Increase/(Decrease)

2016

Carrying
Amount
$

Interest Rate Risk
-0.5%
0.5%
Net Result
Equity
Net Result
Equity
$
$
$
$

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
I nvestments

4,015,766
402,134
5,316,370

(20,079)
(26,582)

(20,079)
(26,582)

20,079
26,582

20,079
26,582

Financial liabilities
Payables
Unearned Income.

425,251
4,162,510

(20,813)

(20,813)

20,813

20,813

( 67,474)

(67,474)

67,474

67,474

Total Increase/(Decrease)
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Note 18 Financial Instruments (continued)
(e) Fair Value
The fair values and net fair values of financial instrument assets and liabilities are determined as follows:
- the fair value of financial instrument assets and liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded in active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices; and
- the fair value of other financial instrument assets and liabilities are determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.
The Trust considers that the carrying amount of financial instrument assets and liabilities recorded in
the financial statements to be a fair approximation of their fair values, because of the short-term nature
of the financial instruments and the expectation that they will be paid in full. All longer-term investments
are either capital guaranteed or capital protected with any movements in market prices recognised in
the Available-for-sale Investment Reserve.
The following table shows both the Carrying Amount and Fair Value of the financial assets and financial
liabilities of the Trust.
Comparison between carrying amount and fair value
Carrying
Amount
2017
$

Fair
Value
2017
$

Carrying
Amount
2016
$

Fair
Value
2016
$

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
I nvestments
Total Financial Assets

4,468,567
523,215
6,018,706
1 1,010,488

4,468,567
523,215
6,018,706
11,010,488

4,015,766
402,134
5,316,370
9,734,270

4,015,766
402,134
5,316,370
9,734,270

Financial Liabilities
Payables
Unearned Income
Total Financial Liabilities

560,809
4,686,677
5,247,486

560,809
4,686,677
5,247,486

425,251
4,162,510
4,587,761

425,251
4,162,510
4,587,761

Financial assets measured at fair value
Carrying
Amount as
at 30 June

Fair value measurement at end of
reporting period using:

2017
Available for sale financial assets
- Managed Funds
Total Financial Assets

$

Level1
$

2,818,706
2,818,706

2,818,706
2,818,706

-

-

2016
Available for sale financial assets
- Managed Funds
Total Financial Assets

1,116,370
1,116,370

1,116,370
1,116,370

-

-

There have been no transfers between levels during the period.
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Note 18 Financial Instruments(continued)
Accounting Policy Notes
Financial Instruments
Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Due to the nature of the Geelong Cemeteries Trust's
activities, certain financial assets and financial liabilities arise under statute rather than contract. Such financial
assets and financial liabilities do not meet the definition of financial instruments in AASB 132 Financial
Instruments: Presentation. For example, statutory receivables arising from taxes, fines and penalties do not
meet the definition of financial instruments as they do not arise under contract.
Where relevant, for note disclosure purposes, a distinction is made between those financial assets and financial
liabilities that meet the definition of financial instruments in accordance with AASB 132 and those that do not.
The following refers to financial instruments unless otherwise stated
Categories of Non-Derivative Financial Instruments
Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss
Financial assets are categorised as fair value through profit or loss at trade date if they are classified as held for
trading or designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial instrument assets are designated at fair value
through profit or loss on the basis that the financial assets form part of a group of financial assets that are
managed by the Trust based on their fair values, and have their performance evaluated in accordance with
documented risk management and investment strategies.
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are initially measured at fair value and attributable
transaction costs are expensed as incurred. Subsequently, any changes in fair value are recognised in
"other comprehensive income".
Financial assets held for trading purposes are classified as current assets and are stated at fair value, with any
resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in net result incorporates any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset. Fair value is determined in the manner described in this Note.
Available-for-Sale Financial Assets
Available-for-sale financial instrument assets are those designated as available-for-sale or not classified in any
other category of financial instrument asset. Such assets are initially recognised at fair value. Subsequent to
initial recognition, gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in equity until the
investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in equity is included in net result for the period. Fair value is determined in the manner described in
this Note.
Receivables
Receivables are financial instrument assets with fixed and determinable payments that are not quoted on an
active market. These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial measurement, receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment.
Receivables includes trade receivables and other receivables, but not statutory receivables.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.
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Accounting Policy Notes (continued)
Financial Instruments (continued)
Held-to-Maturity Investments
If the Trust has the positive intent and ability to hold nominated investments to maturity, then such financial
assets may be classified as held-to-maturity. Held-to-maturity financial assets are recognised initially at fair
value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity financial
assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.
The Trust makes limited use of this classification because any sale or reclassification of more than an
insignificant amount of held-to-maturity investments not close to their maturity would result in the whole category
being reclassified as available-for-sale. The Trust would also be prevented from classifying investment securities
as held-to-maturity for the current and the following two financial years.
The held-to-maturity category includes certain term deposits and debt securities for which the Trust intends to
hold to maturity.
Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost
Financial instrument liabilities are initially recognised on the date they are originated. They are initially measured
at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial
instruments are measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and the
redemption value being recognised in profit and loss over the period of the borrowing, using the effective interest
rate method.
Financial instrument liabilities measured at amortised cost include the Trust's contractual payables and deposits
held.
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(a) Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (LASS, managed by Vision Super
The Geelong Cemeteries Trust ("the Trust") makes the majority of its employer superannuation contributions
i n respect of its employees to the Local Authorities Superannuation Fund ("the Fund"). This Fund has two
categories of membership, accumulation and defined benefit, each of which is funded differently. The
Defined Benefit category provides lump sum benefits based on years of service and final average salary. In
certain circumstances a defined benefit member may be eligible to purchase a lifetime pension with up to
50% of their lump sum benefit. The accumulation category receives fixed contributions from the Trust and
the Trust's legal or constructive obligation is limited to these contributions.
Obligations for contributions to the Fund are recognised as an expense in the Comprehensive Operating
Statement when they are made or due.
Obligations for contributions to other Funds are also recognised as an expense in the Comprehensive
Operating Statement when they are made or due.
Accumulation
The Fund's accumulation category, Vision MySuper/Vision Super Saver, receives both employer and
employee contributions on a progressive basis. Employer contributions are normally based on a fixed
percentage of employee earnings. For the year ended 30 June 2017, this was 9.50% (2015-16 - 9.50%) as
required under Superannuation Guarantee legislation. Our commitment to accumulation plans is limited to
making contributions in accordance with our minimum statutory requirements. No further liability accrues to
the employer as the superannuation benefits accruing to employees are represented by their share of the
net assets of the Fund.
The Superannuation Guarantee(SG) rate will remain at 9.50% for the next 4 years, increasing to 10.0%
from 1 July 2021, and eventually to 12.0% from 1 July 2025.
Defined Benefit
As provided under Paragraph 34 of AASB 119 -Employee Benefits, Geelong Cemeteries Trust does not
use defined benefit accounting for its defined benefit obligations under the Fund's Defined Benefit category
This is because the Fund's Defined Benefit category is amulti-employer sponsored plan.
As amulti-employer sponsored plan, the Fund was established as a mutual scheme to allow for the
mobility of the workforce between the participating employers without attaching a specific liability to
particular employees and their current employer. Therefore, there is no proportional split of the defined
benefit liabilities, assets or costs between the participating employers as the defined benefit obligation is a
floating obligation between the participating employers and the only time that the aggregate obligation is
allocated to specific employers is when a call is made. As a result, the level of participation of the Trust in
the Fund cannot be measured as a percentage compared with other participating employers. While there is
an agreed methodology to allocate any shortfalls identified by the Fund Actuary for funding purposes, there
is no agreed methodology to allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between the participating
employers for accounting purposes. Therefore, the Fund Actuary is unable to allocate benefit liabilities,
assets and costs between employers for the purposes of AASB 119 because of the pooled nature of the
Fund's Defined Benefit category.
Funding arrangements
The Trust makes employer contributions to the Defined Benefit category of the Fund at rates determined by
the Trustee on the advice of the Fund Actuary.
As at 30 June 2016, an interim actuarial investigation was held as the Fund provides lifetime pensions in the
Defined Benefit category. It was determined that the Vested Benefit Index (VBI) of the Defined Benefit
category of which the Trust is a contributing employer was 102.0% (105.8% at 30 June 2015).
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Funding arrangements(continued)
The Australian Prudential Regulation Authority(APRA)superannuation prudential standard (SPS 160) Defined Benefit Matters determines the funding requirements of a defined benefit(DB) arrangement. Under
this standard:
- the VBI is the measure to determine whether there is an unfunded liability; and
- Any unfunded liability that arises must be paid within three years.
U nder SPS 160, the VBI is to be used as the primary funding indicator. Because the VBI was above 100%,
the 2016 interim actuarial investigation showed that the Defined Benefit category was in a satisfactory
financial position under SPS 160. As a result, the Fund Actuary determined that no change was necessary
to the Defined Benefit category's funding arrangements from prior years.
The Fund's employer funding arrangements comprise of three components as follows:
1 . Regular contributions -which are ongoing contributions needed to fund the balance of benefits for current
members and pensioners;
2. Funding calls -which are contributions in respect of each participating employer's share of any funding
shortfalls that arise; and
3. Retrenchment increments -which are additional contributions to cover the increase in liability arising
from retrenchments.
The Trust is also required to make additional contributions to cover the contribution tax payable on
components 2 and 3 referred to above.
Employees are also required to make member contributions to the Fund. As such, assets accumulate in
the Fund to meet member benefits, as defined in the Trust Deed, as they accrue.
Employer contributions
Regular contributions
On the basis of the results of the 2016 interim actuarial investigation conducted by the Fund Actuary,
the Trust makes employer contributions to the Fund's Defined Benefit category at rates determined by
the Fund's Trustee. For the year ended 30 June 2017, this rate was 9.50% of members' salaries (9.50%
i n 2015-16). This rate will increase in line with the SG increases.
I n addition, the Trust reimburses the Fund to cover the excess of the benefits paid as a consequence
of retrenchment above the funded resignation or retirement benefit (the funded resignation or retirement
benefit is calculated as the VBI multiplied by the benefit).
Funding calls
The Fund is required to comply with the superannuation prudential standards. Under the superannuation
prudential standard SPS 160, the Fund is required to target full funding of its vested benefits. There may
be circumstances where:
- a fund is in an unsatisfactory financial position at an actuarial investigation (i.e. its vested benefit
i ndex (VBI) is less than 100% at the date of the actuarial investigation); or
- a fund's VBI is below its shortfall limit at any time other than at the date of the actuarial investigations.
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Note 19 Superannuation (continued)
Funding calls (continued)
If either of the above occur, the fund has a shortfall for the purposes of SPS 160 and the fund is required
to put a plan in place so that the shortfall is fully funded within three years of the shortfall occurring.
There may be circumstances where APRA may approve a period longer than three years.
The Fund monitors its VBI on a quarterly basis and the Fund has set the Defined Benefit category's
shortfall limit at 97%.
I n the event that the Fund Actuary determines that there is a shortfall based on the above requirement,
the Fund's participating employers (including Geelong Cemeteries Trust) are required to make an
employer contribution to cover the shortfall. The methodology used to allocate the shortfall was agreed
i n 1997 to fairly and reasonably apportion the shortfall between the participating employers.
Using the agreed methodology, the shortfall amount is apportioned between the participating employers
based on the pre-1 July 1993 and post-30 June 1993 service liabilities of the Fund's Defined Benefit
category, together with the employer's payroll at 30 June 1993 and at the date the shortfall has been
calculated.
The pre-1 July 1993 and post-30 June 1993 service liabilities of the Fund are based on:
- The service periods of all active members split between the active members pre-1 July 1993 and
post-30 June 1993 service period; and
- The pensioner (including fixed term pension) liabilities which are allocated to the pre-1993 period
The pre-1 July 1993 component of the shortfall is apportioned between the participating employers
based on the employer's share of the total participating employer payroll at 30 June 1993.
The post-30 June 1993 component of the shortfall is apportioned between the participating employers
based on the employer's share of the total participating employer payroll at the date the shortfall has
been calculated.
Due to the nature of the contractual obligations between the participating employers and the Fund, and
that the Fund includes lifetime pensioners and their reversionary beneficiaries, it is unlikely that the
Fund will be wound up. In the unlikely event that the Fund is wound up and there is a surplus in the
Fund, the surplus cannot be applied for the benefit of the defined benefit employers where there are
on-going defined benefit obligations. The surplus would be transferred to the fund accepting those
defined benefit obligations (including the lifetime pension obligations) of the Fund.
I n the event that a participating employer is wound up, the defined benefit obligations of that employer
will be transferred to that employer's successor.
Differences between calculations
The Fund surplus or deficit (i.e. the difference between fund assets and liabilities) is calculated
differently for funding purposes (i.e. calculating required contributions), for the calculation of accrued
benefits as required in AAS 25 and for the values needed for the AASB 119 disclosure in the Geelong
Cemeteries Trusts financial statements. AAS 25 requires that the present value of the defined benefit
liability be calculated based on benefits that have accrued in respect of membership of the plan up to
the measurement date, with no allowance for future benefits that may accrue.
Retrenchment increments
During 2016/17, the Trust was not required to make payments to the Fund in respect of retrenchment
increments (2015/16 -Nil). The Trusts liability to the Fund as at 30 June 2017, for retrenchment
increments, accrued interest and tax is Nil (2015/16 -Nil).
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The 2016 interim actuarial investigation surplus amounts
The 2016 interim actuarial investigation identified the following in the Defined Benefit category of which the
Trust is a contributing employer.
- A VBI surplus of $40.3 million; and
- A total service liability surplus of $156 million.
The VBI surplus means that the market value of the fund's assets supporting the defined benefit obligations
exceed the vested benefits that the defined benefit members would have been entitled to if they had all
exited on 30 June 2016.
The total service liability surplus means that the current value of the assets in the Defined Benefit category
plus expected future contributions exceeds the value of expected future benefits and expenses.
Geelong Cemeteries Trust was notified of the 30 June 2016 VBI during August 2016.
The 2015 full triennial actuarial investigation surplus amounts
The Fund's last full actuarial investigation was as at 30 June 2015. This investigation identified the following:
- A VBI surplus of $130.8 million; and
- A total service liability surplus of $239 million.
The 2017 full triennial actuarial investigation
A full actuarial investigation is being conducted for the Fund's position as at 30 June 2017. It is anticipated
that this actuarial investigation will be completed in December 2017.
Accrued benefits
The Fund's liability for accrued benefits was determined in the 2016 interim actuarial investigation pursuant
to the requirements of Australian Accounting Standards Board AAS 25 -Financial Reporting by
Superannuation Funds as follows:
30-Jun-16
30-Jun-15
(Interim)
(interim)
$ million
$million
Net Market Value of Assets

2,275.9

2,379.2

Accrued Benefits (per accounting standards)

2,079.9

2,083.1

196.0

296.1

2,235.6

2,248.4

Difference between Assets and Accrued Benefits
Vested Benefits
(Minimum sum which must be paid to members when they leave
the fund)

The financial assumptions used to calculate the Accrued Benefits for the Defined Benefit category of the
Fund were:
30-Jun-16
30-Jun-15
Net Investment Return
Salary Inflation
Price Inflation

7.00% p.a.
4.25°/o p.a.
2.50% p.a.
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Note 19 Superannuation (continued)
(b)Superannuation contributions
Contributions by the Trust (excluding any unfunded liability payments) to the above superannuation plans
for the financial year ended 30 June 2017 are detailed below:

Vision Super Defined Benefits - 9.50% (2016 - 9.50%)
Vision Super Accumulation Plan - 9.50% (2016 - 9.50%)
Other Funds Super Guarantee Contributions - 9.50% (2016 - 9.50%)

(c) Contributions Outstanding as at Year End
Super Guarantee Contributions

2017
$
46,702
110,002
83,313

2016
$
45,818
101,796
84,443

240,017

232,057

15,139

14,253

15,139

14,253

There were no loans issued from or to the above schemes as at 30 June 2017.(2016 -Nil)
The expected contributions to be paid to the Defined Benefit category of Vision Super for the year ending
30 June 2018 is $51,800.

The amount charged to the Comprehensive Operating Statement in respect of superannuation represents
contributions made or due by the Geelong Cemeteries Trust to the relevant superannuation plans in respect to the
services of Geelong Cemeteries Trust's staff (both past and present). Superannuation contributions are made to
the plans based on the relevant rules of each plan and any relevant compulsory superannuation requirements that
Geelong Cemeteries Trust is required to comply with.

Note 20 Remuneration of Auditors
Audit fees paid or payable to the Victorian Auditor-General's
Office for the audit of the Trusts financial report:
Audit of financial statements
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Note 21 (a) Responsible Persons Disclosure
I n accordance with the Ministerial Direction issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management
Act 1994, the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons for the reporting period.
Responsible Minister:
The Honourable Jill Hennessy, Minister for Health, Minister forAmbulance Services

Period
01/07/2016 - 30/06/2017

The following were Trustees of the Geelong Cemeteries Trust during the reporting period:
M r. L. J. SMITH
Mrs. S. M. CHISHOLM
M rs. H. F. BENDER
M r. S. L. GOSLING
M r. P. G. MANSFIELD
M r. M. G. DAWSON
Mrs. A. E. BRACKLEY
M r. M. R. EDMONDS
Ms. J. A. FAIRBAIRN

Chairman

01/07/2016 - 30/06/2017
01/07/2016 - 30/06/2017
01/07/2016 - 30/06/2017
01/07/2016 - 30/06/2017
01/07/2016 - 30/06/2017
01/07/2016 - 30/06/2017
01/07/2016 - 30/06/2017
01/07/2016 - 30/06/2017
01/07/2016 - 30/06/2017

Chief Executive Officer: Mr. D. L. THOMAS
Remuneration
Amounts relating to Ministers are reported in the financial statements of the Department of Premier and Cabinet.
The number of responsible persons and their total remuneration during the reporting period are shown in the first
two columns in the table below in their relevant income bands. The base remuneration of responsible persons is
shown in the third and fourth columns. Base remuneration is exclusive of bonus payments, long service leave
payments, redundancy payments and retirement benefits.
Income Band

TOTAL REMUNERATION
2017
2016
No.
No.

$0 - 9,999
$10,000 - 19,999
$160,000 - 169,999
$170,000 - 179,999
$180,000 - 189,999
$190,000 - 199,999
$200,000 - 209,999
Total Numbers

8
1

10
1

BASE REMUNERATION
2017
2016
No.
No.
8
1

10
1
1

1

Total Amount

1
10

1
12

10

12

$
280,025

$
262,429

$
252,939

$
236,004

Other Transactions of Responsible Persons and their Related Parties
Retirement Benefits
There were no amounts paid by the Trust to Trust Members in connection with the retirement of responsible
persons of the Trust during the reporting period.(2016 -Nil)
Loans
There were no loans in existence at 30 June 2017 that have been guaranteed or secured by the Trust to
responsible persons of the Trust, nor any person related to the responsible persons of the Trust.(2016 -Nil)
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Note 21 (a) Responsible Persons Disclosure (continued)
Transactions
There were no other transactions between the Trust and Trust Members and their related parties during the
reporting period.(2016 -Nil)
Superannuation
There was no amount paid to a superannuation fund, or other entity, by the Trust in connection with the
retirement of any responsible person during the reporting period.(2016 -Nil)
Note 21 (b) Executive Officer Disclosures
The number of executive officers, other than Ministers and Accountable Officers, and their total remuneration
d uring the reporting period are shown in the table below. Total annualised employee equivalent provides
a measure of full time equivalent executive officers over the reporting period.
Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided in exchange
for services rendered, and is disclosed in the following categories.
Short-term employee benefits include amounts such as wages, salaries, annual leave or sick leave that are
usually paid or payable on a regular basis plus bonuses, as well as non-monetary benefits such as allowances
and free or subsidised goods or services.
Post-employment benefits include pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a discrete basis
when employment has ceased.
Other long-term benefits include long service leave, other long-service benefit or deferred compensation.
Termination benefits include termination of employment payments, such as severance packages.
Share-based payments are cash or other assets paid or payable as agreed between the Geelong Cemeteries
Trust and the employee, provided specific vesting conditions, if any, are met.
During the reporting period, and previous reporting period, the Executive Officers received bonus payments
approved by the Trust at the respective December Trust meetings following a comprehensive performance
review of the relevant Executive Officers.
Remuneration of Executive Officers

Total Remuneration
2017
2016
$
$

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits
Termination benefits
Share-based payments
Total Remuneration

338,352
27,648
7,320

-

373,320

-

Total number of Executive Officers

2

2

Total Annualised Emplyee Equivalents(AAE)

2

2

No comparatives have been reported because remuneration in the prior year was determined in line with the
basis and definition under FRD 21 B. Remuneration previously excluded non-monetary benefits and comprised
any money, consideration or benefit received or receivable, excluding reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses,
i ncluding any amount received or receivable from a related party transaction.
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Note 21 (c) Related Parties
Related parties of Geelong Cemeteries Trust include
- All key management personnel and their close family members and personal business interests
(controlled entities, joint ventures and entities they have a significant influence over);
- All cabinet ministers and their close family members; and
- All departments and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated in the whole of state
consolidated financial statements.
All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm's length basis.
Significant transactions with government-related entities
During the financial year, the following aggregrate transactions were undertaken and balances held with other
Victorian Government controlled entities. These transactions were undertaken in the ordinary course of operations.

Payments:
Cemetery Levy to Department of Health and Human Services (Note 2(h))

2017
$

2016
$

197,264

190,157

Key management personnel of the Trust includes the Governing Board, Accountable Officer and members of the
Senior Executive Team, which includes:
M r. L. J. SMITH
Mrs. S. M. CHISHOLM
Mrs. H. F. BENDER
M r. S. L. GOSLING
M r. P. G. MANSFIELD
M r. M. G. DAWSON
M rs. A. E. BRACKLEY
M r. M. R. EDMONDS
Ms. J. A. FAIRBAIRN
M r. D. L. THOMAS
M r. F. de GROOT
M r. T. J. COLBERT
The compensation detailed below excludes the salaries and benefits the Portfolio Minister receives. The Minister's
remuneration and allowances is set by the Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation Act 1968 and is reported
within the Department of Parliamentary Services' Financial Report.
Compensation of KMP's

2017

Short-term employee benefits (a)
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits
Termination benefits
Share-based payments

596,458
49,567
11,381
-

Total compensation (b)

657,406

(a) Total remuneration paid to KMP's employed as a contractor during the reporting period through an
external service provider has been reported under short-term employee benefits.
(b) Note that KMP's are also reported in the disclosure of remuneration of executive officers (Note 21(b)).
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Note 21 (c) Related Parties (continued)
Transactions and balances with key management personnel and other related parties
Given the breadth and depth of State government activities, related parties transact with the Victorian public sector
i n a manner consistent with other members of the public e.g. stamp duty and other government fees and charges.
Further employment of processes within the Victorian public sector occur on terms and conditions consistent
with the Public Administration Act 2004 and Codes of Conduct and Standards issued by the Victorian Public
Sector Commission. Procurement processes occur on terms and conditions consistent with the Victorian
Government Procurement Board requirements.
There were no other related party transactions with the members of the Governing Board and their related parties,
which occurred during the normal course of business, apart from remuneration of Board directors which is
disclosed in Note 21(a).
The Trust has prepared related party disclosures for the year based on reasonable enquiries made by
management in relation to the Governing Board and their related parties and the information available to the
organisation, with the transition to full implementation of AASB 124 and any applicable financial reporting
directions.

Note 22 Events Occurring after Balance Sheet Date
Events After the Reporting Period
Assets, liabilities, income or expenses arise from past transactions or other past events. Adjustments are made
to amounts recognised in the financial statements for events which occur after the reporting period and before the
date the financial statements are authorised for issue, where those events provide information about conditions
which existed in the reporting period. Disclosed below are events between the end of the reporting period and the
date the financial statements are authorised for issue where the events relate to conditions which arose after the
end of the reporting period and which may have a material impact on the results of subsequent reporting periods.

Trust Investments -Volatility of World Financial Markets
Since the reporting date, world financial markets have shown volatility that has affected the carrying value of the
Trusts investment portfolio. The Trust continues to maintain a conservative investment strategy to manage our
exposure to this volatility.

Note 23 Ex-Gratia Expenses
The Geelong Cemeteries Trust has not made any ex-gratia payments during the current reporting period or
previous reporting period. The Trust also has not written off any amounts during the current reporting period or
previous reporting period.
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Independent Auditor's Report

Victorian Auditor-General's Office

To the Trust of the Geelong Cemeteries Trust
Opinion

I have audited the financial report of the Geelong Cemeteries Trust (the cemetery) which
comprises the:
•

balance sheet as at 30 June 2017

•

comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended
statement of changes in equity for the year then ended
cash flow statement for the year then ended

•
•
•
•

notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies
trust member's, accountable officer's &chief finance and accounting officer's declaration.

In my opinion the financial report is in accordance with Part 7 of the Financial Management Act
1994 and Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Notfor-profits Commission Act 2012,
including:

Basis for
Opinion

•

presenting fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the cemetery as at
30 June 2017 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended

•

complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Division 60 of the Australian
Charities and Notfor-profits Commission Regulations 2013.

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the
Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the Act are further described in the
Auditor's Responsibilitiesfor the Audit of the Financial Report section of my report.
My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are independent of
the cemetery in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Australian
Charities and Notfor-profits Commission Act 2012 and the ethical requirements of the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Australia. My staff
and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for my opinion.

Trust's
responsibilities
for the

The Trust of the cemetery is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Financial Management Act 1994
and the Australian Charities and Notfor-profits Commission Act 2012, and for such internal

financial report control as the Trust determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a
financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the Trust is responsible for assessing the cemetery's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so.

Revel 31 35
:
ollins S1ree1, Melbourne Vic 3000
T 03 8b01 7000 enquines(a>audif.vic.gov a~ www.nudit vic.gov.ou
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Auditor's
responsibilities
for the audit of
the financial
report

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the
Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:
•

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the cemetery's internal control

•

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Trust

•

conclude on the appropriateness of the Trust's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the cemetery's
ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am
required to draw attention in my auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor's report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the cemetery to cease to continue as a going
concern.

•

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

communicate with the Trust regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that I identify during my audit.
also provide the Trust with a statement that I have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

~C
M ELBOURNE
16 August 2017

~.r./,J~t...,... 7.

Charlotte Jeffries
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria
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CEMETERIES TRUST
Caring for our Communities

Ph.(03)5249 3939 I Fax.(03)5221 7031
Email. info@gct.net.au I Website. www.gct.net.au

CEMETERIES OF THE TRUST
•
•
•
•
•
•

Geelong Eastern
Geelong Western
Barrabool Hills, Highton
Grovedale
Mount Duneed
Mount Moriac

• Geelong Memorial
Park &Crematorium,
Armstrong Creek
• Winchelsea
• Lorne
• Colac

• Whoorel,
Birregurra
• Warncoort
• Beeac
• Flinders Memorial
Park, La ra

• Leopold
• Drysdale
• Queenscliff,
Point Lonsdale
• Portarlington

